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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBE

OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES IN POST-
PANDEMIC ERA

In 2021, the world trade and economy had been recovering
gradually from impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. According
to the data released by the United Nations Conference on
Trade and Development (“UNCTAD"), world trade volume
during 2021 was estimated to reach approximately US$28
trillion, a growth of 23% from the same period in 2020,
driven by easing of pandemic restrictions and accelerated
vaccination around the globe. However, we experienced a
sharp rise in prices of goods and services driven by factors
such as economic stimulus packages, which has undoubtedly
brought greater uncertainty to the recovery of the world
economy.

The prolonged pandemic during the past year had affected
the world economy and the international logistics industry
to varying degrees. Various factors, such as reduced flights,
blocked ports and city blockades, brought significant
challenges to the Company. The post-pandemic era is featured
by strong demand for goods and services and the continued
sluggish international logistics service capabilities. Despite
the improvement as compared with the situations in 2020,
international logistics price remained high. In the meantime,
global consumption pattern has also been affected by various
factors in the post-pandemic era. The further increasing
penetration rate of e-commerce in many regions around the
world has created a new blue ocean market for companies.

As a player in global trade, and in light of the impact of
demand recovery and supply shortage in the post-epidemic
era, the Company, together with its global partners and
YTO Airlines, took a pragmatic and aggressive approach
and actively deployed and endeavored to leverage on the
Company’s excellent capability and quality of service to
provide high-quality international logistics and supply chain
services for customers around the globe. Through the
unremitting efforts of all employees, the Company has also
achieved impressive results, which laid a solid foundation for
its strategic development in the coming year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

PROSPECTS

In 2022, the world economy is anticipated to maintain the
recovery trend as witnessed in 2021. Although the spread
of the pandemic and its variants remain to be important
negative factors, we maintain an optimistic forecast for the
coming year. Meanwhile, at the key node of the Company’s
five-year strategic plan for internationalization, the Company
will, together with its parent company and global partners,
further strengthen its investment in logistics infrastructure,
especially in the construction of aviation resources for trunk
lines and the enhancement of international supply chain
service capabilities. In the post-pandemic era, the Company
will actively optimize product strategy to satisfy the needs
of the market and customers, continue to increase its efforts
in international development, and implement the Group
Company’s globalization strategy of “going global with the
‘Belt and Road’ initiative”, “going global with the cross-
border e-commerce business” and “going global with the
Chinese enterprises”.

The year 2022 also marks the inception of the Regional
Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP). The Company
will keep a close eye on market trends and actively make
investment to further expand its strong network and service
capabilities in the PRC market and Southeast Asian market,
while further improving its service quality, competitive
advantages and enriching its product portfolio, and exploring
regional market potential to form a new growth point for the
Company.

APPRECIATION

| hereby would like to express my gratitude and appreciation
to our Shareholders for their confidence and supports, each
member of the Board for their valuable opinions as well
as our management team and fellow employees for their
efforts and contributions. | am looking forward to the full
commitment of all staff members in 2022, striving to achieve
the vision of “The World is Within Your Reach”.

Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Board announces the audited annual results of the Group
for the FY2021. During the FY2021, the global economy and
consumption have recovered significantly due to the overall
easing of the pandemic and the introduction of relevant
economic stimulus measures. The demand for international
logistics has also rebounded driven by the strong momentum
of demand. The Company's business has improved compared
to last year supported by various factors.

Although several variants of the Coronavirus Disease
("COVID-19"”) that emerged in 2021 once threatened the
pandemic prevention and control results, global major
economies are gradually shaking off the impact of the
pandemic. According to the Global Economic Outlook
released by the World Bank, global economic growth is
expected to moderate at 4.1% in 2022 after rebounding
to 5.5% in 2021, and output and investment in developed
economies are expected to return to pre-pandemic level in
2022. Therefore, the Group remains cautiously optimistic
about the impact of the pandemic on the market and
business in 2022. In particular, the Group states a number
of important factors in respect of the impact of pandemic in
both 2021 and 2022 herein.

Despite of the sustained impact of the pandemic in
the short term, logistics service demand for pandemic-
related products is strong

Given different anti-pandemic measures in some major
economies around the world, the global demand for personal
protective supplies may decrease as compared to that in
2021. However, due to the large-scale spread of Omicron, the
demand for some special supplies, such as personal COVID-19
testing kits, remains strong. In this regard, the Company
believes that in the short term, the pandemic will keep
driving up some direct logistics demand. Besides, due to the
prospective new variants and future variants of COVID-19,
the Company believes that in the short term, it is unlikely that
travel restriction and control induced by the pandemic would
be completely lifted, and there will still be great uncertainty in
the provision of global production and international logistics
services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Changes in consumption habits under the
pandemic will further promote the development of
e-commerce

As the pandemic persists, some countries maintain the social
distancing or even city blockade to prevent the pandemic.
Therefore, e-commerce remains to be one of the important
channels to satisfy consumers’ daily consumption. Meanwhile,
as the entry into force of the Regional Comprehensive
Economic Partnership (RCEP), various policies have been
launched to promote regional trade facilitation, which
will once again promote the development of cross-
border e-commerce. Therefore, the Company believes that
e-commerce will maintain a high growth rate, and the trend
will maintain for several years.

Made-in-China keeps driving the growth of China’s
export

It will be difficult that the global industrial chain continuously
affected by the pandemic will recover in the short term.
Therefore, the global economy remains strongly dependent
on the Chinese industrial chain. In 2021, China’s imports and
exports achieved rapid growth, and the total value of goods
imports and exports increased by 21.4% year on year. In the
meantime, both the growth rates of China’s exports to the EU
and Africa exceeded 20%, and the growth rate of its exports
to Latin America exceeded 40%. Therefore, the Company
believes that the impact of the pandemic will be difficult to
get rid of, but the recovery of the global economy will further
strengthen their dependence on Chinese manufacturing,
while promoting further rapid growth of Chinese exports.

Financial Results

The Group recorded revenue of about HK$7,556.4 million
during the FY2021 (FY2020: about HK$5,048.1 million),
representing an increase of about 49.7% from FY2020.
Gross profit amounted to about HK$792.8 million during the
FY2021 (FY2020: about HK$772.6 million), representing an
increase of about 2.6% from FY2020. Gross profit margin
during the FY2021 was about 10.5% (FY2020: about 15.3%).
Net profit was about HK$278.2 million during the FY2021
(FY2020: about HK$255.9 million), representing an increase
of about 8.7% from FY2020 while the net profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company increased by about
8.4% from FY2020 to about HK$273.4 million during the
FY2021 (FY2020: about HK$252.2 million). The increase in
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was
mainly attributable to (a) substantial increase in the revenue
and profit contributed by the ocean freight segment due
to the increase in the demand of sea container space and
ocean container freight rates; and (b) the better control over
expenses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis

The Group's core businesses comprises air and ocean freight
forwarding, complemented by the ancillary and contract
logistics services (including warehousing, distribution and
customs clearance), international express and parcel services
and other businesses (comprising combine shipments,
trucking, general sales agency and hand-carry services). The
comprehensive range of services offered by the Group enables
the Group to meet diverse customers’ needs and provide
cross-selling opportunities.

Air Freight

The air freight forwarding business continued to constitute
the largest business segment of the Group, representing
about 44.5% of the Group’s total revenue during the
FY2021 (FY2020: about 60.7%). It principally involves
arranging shipment upon receipt of booking instructions from
customers, obtaining cargo space from airlines, preparing the
relevant documentation, and upon delivery to the destination,
arranging customs clearance and cargo handling. The Group
is well recognised in the logistics industry, having received
numerous accolades from international organisations and
major airlines since 2000, including “Top Agent Award” from
Cathay Pacific Cargo each year since 2006. Consequently,
the Group has become the preferred business partner of
renowned companies from around the world, hailing from the
garment, footwear and electronic industries, delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business and among others.

During the FY2021, the air freight forwarding business
recorded revenue of about HK$3,361.8 million (FY2020:
about HK$3,062.5 million), representing an increase of about
9.8% as compared to FY2020. Gross profit of the segment
decreased from about HK$455.2 million during the FY2020
to about HK$354.6 million during the FY2021, representing
a decrease of about 22.1% as compared to FY2020, which
was primarily attributable to the increase in air freight rate
caused by the shortage in supply of cargo space resulting
from COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictive measures. In
respect of air import and export tonnage, the Group noted
a total increase of tonnage of about 5.2% for the FY2021
when compared to the FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis (continued)
Ocean Freight

Contributing about 26.5% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2021 (FY2020: about 16.2%), the ocean freight
forwarding business principally involves organising shipments,
arranging customs clearance and haulage services. The
established relationships with trade partners and shipping
lines, together with the in-house tailored freight operations
system, have enabled the Group to capture the ocean freight
market growth. During the FY2021, revenue of ocean freight
segment increased significantly by about 145.2% to about
HK$2,004.2 million (FY2020: about HK$817.4 million).
Gross profit increased to about HK$264.3 million during the
FY2021 (FY2020: about HK$138.5 million), representing an
increase of about 90.8% as compared to FY2020. During the
FY2021, the Group noted an increase of tonnage of about
0.9% in respect of ocean freight shipping volume handled by
the Group. The substantial increase in the revenue and profit
contributed by the ocean freight segment is due to the overall
increase in the demand of sea container space and the selling
price of sea container space under COVID-19 pandemic.

Ancillary and Contract Logistics Services

Accounting for about 0.9% of the Group's total revenue
during the FY2021 (FY2020: about 1.6%), the ancillary and
contract logistics services segment includes warehousing,
distribution and customs clearance. Warehousing includes
pick and pack, labelling, quality inspection, sorting, pick-
up and delivery services for export shipments from the
shipper’s location to the outgoing port and delivery of
import shipments from arrival at the incoming port to
the consignee’s location. It is supported by the Group’s
information technology platform, which allows customers to
conveniently trace inventory levels, incoming and outgoing
shipments and other information online. Revenue generated
from this segment was about HK$67.2 million during the
FY2021 (FY2020: about HK$82.8 million), representing a
decrease of about 18.8% as compared to FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis (continued)
International Express and Parcel Services

International express and parcel services which mainly
consist of cross-border small parcels business is one of the
Company’s emerging businesses in recent years and also
one of the Company's important strategic segments to
respond to the booming of global cross-border e-commerce.
It represents about 25.8% of the total revenue of the Group
for the FY2021 (FY2020: about 18.9%). The Company pays
continuous attention to the cross-border e-commerce market
and consumer needs, and provides high-quality cross-border
parcel logistic services for e-commerce platforms, merchants,
and consumers.

The Group responded actively to changes in markets and
competitive landscapes and proactively developed the
international express and parcel services market during
the FY2021. Benefiting from the rapid development of
e-commerce in Southeast Asia, the continuous deepening
of the cooperation with Hangzhou Cainiao Supply Chain
Management Co., Limited and the development of new
customers, revenue from international express and parcel
services increased from about HK$952.9 million during the
FY2020 to about HK$1,949.1 million during the FY2021,
representing a significant increase of about 104.5%. During
the FY2021, the Group has completed the delivery of about
136.1 million units in international express and parcel
business (FY2020: about 77.5 million).

During the FY2021, the gross profit of international express
and parcel services decreased to about HK$110.9 million
(FY2020: about HK$114.4 million) representing a drop of
about 3.1%, which was primarily attributable to the increase
in air freight price and chartering cost caused by the shortage
in supply of cargo space resulting from COVID-19 pandemic
and related restrictive measures.

Others

The other businesses include combined shipments, trucking,
e-commerce business and hand-carry services, the latter
of which involves time sensitive shipments that allow the
Group to charge higher fees and consequently benefit from
higher profits. During the FY2021, the other businesses
recorded revenue of about HK$174.2 million (FY2020: about
HK$132.6 million), representing an increase of about 31.4%
as compared to FY2020, and gross profit of about HK$36.7
million (FY2020: about HK$36.4 million), representing an
increase of about 0.8% as compared to FY2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group has centralised financing policies and control over
all its operations which enables the Group to have a tight
control of treasury operations and lower average cost of
funds.

The Group’s working capital as at 31 December 2021
was about HK$1,024.9 million, representing a significant
increase of about 36.6% from about HK$750.5 million as at
31 December 2020. The current ratio of the Group decreased
from about 2.10 times as at 31 December 2020 to about 1.97
times as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted to about
HK$567.8 million, representing an increase of about 15.4%
from about HK$491.9 million as at 31 December 2020. For
the FY2021, the Group had operating cash inflow of about
HK$152.5 million (FY2020: operating cash inflow of about
HK$322.9 million). As at 31 December 2021, the Group's
outstanding bank borrowings amounted to about HK$5.4
million (as at 31 December 2020: about HK$1.1 million).
The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank
borrowings divided by total equity, was about 0.5% as at
31 December 2021 (as at 31 December 2020: 0.1%). As at
31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group maintained a net
cash position. The Group will continue to secure financing as
and when the need arises.

Foreign Exchange Risk

In light of the nature of the Group’s business, the Group
is exposed to various foreign currency risks including RMB,
USD, RM, SGD, THB, INR, EUR, GBP, CAD, JPY, VND, IDR, HUF,
AED and TWD among which, RMB, EUR and USD are mostly
used in the Group’s business apart from HK$. Nevertheless,
the Group’s operations are predominately subject to the
fluctuations of RMB since HK$ is pegged to USD. The Group
did not use any derivative contracts to hedge against its
exposure to currency risk during the FY2020 and the FY2021.
The Group continued to exercise a strict control policy and
did not engage in any speculative trading in debt securities or
financial derivatives during the FY2021.

Significant investments

During the FY2021,
investments.

the Group did not hold any material
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any capital
expenditure commitments.

The contingent consideration of HK$250,000 as at
31 December 2020, which was determined based on the
future financial performance and settlement of certain
outstanding account receivables of Best Loader Logistics
Company Limited (“Best Loader HK"), has been fully settled
by the Group during the FY2021.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
5 May 2017, 3 August 2018, 15 March 2019, 30 March
2020, 4 August 2020 and 4 August 2021 for further details.

Performance Guarantees

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader HK

On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT BVI"), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 5 May 2017
(the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Air Partner
Logistics Company Limited, as vendor (the “Vendor")
and Ms. Chan Yi Lam, as guarantor for the Vendor (the
“Guarantor”), in relation to the acquisition of the entire
issued shares of Best Loader HK. Pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the Vendor undertakes and guarantees
to OT BVI that (i) the net assets value of Best Loader HK
for the year ended 31 December 2017 in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), which
shall be verified by the Company’s auditor (the "2017
Accounts”), will be no less than HK$3.0 million (the “2017
NAV Guarantee”); (i) the net assets value of Best Loader
HK for the year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with
HKFRS, which shall be verified by the Company's auditor
(the “2018 Accounts”), will be no less than HK$4.7 million
(the “2018 NAV Guarantee”); and (iii) the net assets value
of Best Loader HK for the year ended 31 December 2019
in accordance with HKFRS, which shall be verified by the
Company's auditor (the “2019 Accounts”), will be no less
than HK$7.1 million (the “2019 NAV Guarantee”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Performance Guarantees (continued)

In Relation to the Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Shares of Best Loader HK (continued)

After the determination of the 2017 Accounts, the 2018
Accounts and the 2019 Accounts, respectively, OT BVI shall
pay to the Vendor the remaining balance of the purchase
price in the following manner: (i) HK$300,000 to the Vendor
if the 2017 NAV Guarantee is fulfilled; (i) HK$250,000 to
the Vendor if the 2018 NAV Guarantee is fulfilled; and (iii)
HK$250,000 to the Vendor if the 2019 NAV Guarantee is
fulfilled.

Given that the 2017 NAV Guarantee and the 2018 NAV
Guarantee had been fulfilled, OT BVI had paid to the
Vendor in aggregate of HK$550,000 in cash as payment
of part of the consideration for the Sale and Purchase
Agreement. On 4 August 2020, OT BVI and, amongst others,
the Guarantor entered into a supplemental agreement to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) in relation to the payment of the final part of
the consideration for the Sale and Purchase Agreement of
HK$250,000 (the “Final Instalment”) and the settlement
of certain outstanding accounts receivables of Best Loader
HK which amounted to approximately HK$2.0 million
(the “Outstanding Accounts Receivables”). Under the
Supplemental Agreement, it was agreed that the payment
date of the Final Instalment shall be extended to 4 August
2021 (the "Deadline”) and such payment is conditional upon
Best Loader HK having received the Outstanding Accounts
Receivables of aggregate amounts exceeding HK$300,000 as
of the Deadline. Best Loader HK has received the outstanding
Accounts Receivables of aggregate amounts exceeding
HK$300,000 as at the Deadline. As such, OT BVI has paid the
Final Installment to the Vendor.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
5 May 2017, 3 August 2018, 15 March 2019, 30 March
2020, 4 August 2020 and 4 August 2021 for further details
in respect of the acquisition, update on the fulfillment of
performance guarantees and the Supplemental Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure certain banking facilities
representing guarantees on payment to certain airline
suppliers of the Group for the Group’s cargo space purchase
and bank borrowings granted to the Group:

Financial asset at fair value though
profit or loss

Debt investment at amortised cost

Pledged bank deposits

TREE
BEHEFRITER

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2021, being the end of the reporting
period to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 1 January 2021, OT BVI entered into the sale and purchase
agreement with Ms. He Xiaoli, pursuant to which Ms. He
Xiaoli has agreed to sell, and OT BVI has agreed to purchase,
the 1,800 ordinary shares in On Time Worldwide Logistics Ltd.
("OT Korea"), representing 3% of the entire issued shares in
OT Korea, at the consideration of HK$750,000, subject to and
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the sale and
purchase agreement. Upon completion, the Group’s interest
in OT Korea is 51% and OT Korea became an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Saved as disclosed, there was no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures of the
Company during the FY2021.

“EFR BEERE(BR)ERERAA

WA EABRTEN
HEBERAGTENERRE

¥ EEE (m)

EEHEH

RZBE-_—F+_A=Z+—H XEEBED
BERTHEE UREBSAEEERNE T
RITEE (BB AR & B 2= 8 A 5K B8 1A) AR
%@%Fﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂ)&ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%

£ .
N

2021 2020
—F=-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
869 896

7,069 7,463
10,768 7,633
18,706 15,992

mEHEREE
E-ZT-_—+-A=+—8 (k%=
MR)EAREAH HESHEHAEEE
RERKFE-

@g@ﬂ&%%@ﬂZEk%ﬁ&

i

RZZE=Z—F—H—H " 0T BVIEH{@ X
THAVEEmR S BUERFATERES
EAOERREGEOBRT XML
CEEHE MOT BVIEEEEEZOn Time
Worldwide Logistics Ltd. ([OT Korea ] )
1,800A% L@ A% (BNOT Korea® B B 17X
A HI3% ) £ 1B A750,00008 7T - RX 5 5%
1% REEROT Koreaty BX# A51% » M
OT Koreafl\ AR Rz BEIIEZEH B A
S0

b

BREEEN R -T-—FHRER S
EARBRUEARAMBLAA BEA
ANEERE-

=z

15 '

R Y N

S WY



-

mﬂﬂﬂ

N

2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2022, the Company believes that this
year will maintain the promising trend of 2021, the global
economy will continue to recover, and the pandemic will be
brought under further control until its impact is eliminated.
According to the 2022 World Economic Situation and
Prospects report, the global output is expected to grow by
4.0% in 2022. The report highlighted that, driven by strong
growth in consumer spending and return of capital flows,
the economic recovery was strong in 2021 and commodity
trade surpassed pre-pandemic levels. However, the potential
impact of macro factors on the business of the Group
cannot be ignored. The rising inflationary pressure in many
economies has brought additional risks to the economic
recovery. Meanwhile, the new wave of outbreaks caused by
the Omicron variant of the COVID-19 posed new challenges,
which is expected to increase the pandemic-induced mortality
and economic losses. In conclusion, the Company remains
cautiously optimistic about the overall circumstances in 2022,
in particular:

There remain direct and potential risks of the
pandemic, and global economy recovery continues
to face uncertainties

Due to the sustained impact and constant emergence of
new variants, there remains negative prospects for the
recovery of the global economy. According to the forecast
of the International Monetary Fund, the inflation fueled
by the pandemic will be more severe in 2022, and the
rise of consumer prices will lead to sluggish consumption,
thereby affecting the overall recovery progress of economy.
Accordingly, the impact of the pandemic had been
transforming from direct impact as in two years ago to
potential impacts, which may further affect the recovery
progress of the global economy. Besides, due to the different
impacts of the pandemic on different economies, the pace
of recovery may vary. In other words, developed economies
may recover faster from the pandemic, while developing
economies may be left behind. As the pandemic is gradually
brought under control and the global economy will recover
further, such uneven pace may continue, and affect the
sustainability of the overall recovery.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Implementation of RCEP sparks regional economic
prosperity

The taking effect of the Regional Comprehensive Economic
Partnership (RCEP), as the world’s largest multilateral free
trade agreement, is one of the most important events in
international trade in 2022. The taking effect of RCEP will
promote trade and investment within and beyond the region,
and will have an immeasurable impact on the economy of
member countries, the Asia-Pacific region or even the world.
In addition to traditional measures such as tariff reduction and
international trade facilitation, RCEP will further promote the
development of the emerging digital economy, significantly
improve the efficiency of cross-border trade in terms of
customs and logistics, and fully release the huge consumption
market potential in the region. Therefore, the Company
believes that RCEP is expected to alleviate the negative impact
of the COVID-19 on the regional economy, and facilitate the
recovery of the global economy.

China’s strong exports boost recovery of
international trade

As China has implemented strict prevention and control
measures and recovered from the pandemic quickly since the
outbreak, its production and supply chains have not been
severely impacted, and the global industrial chain has shifted
back to China again. According to preliminary statistics from
the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2021, the GDP
of China increased by 8.1% year on year, and the total value
of imported and exported goods increased by 21.4% year
on year, of which exports increased by 21.2%. Excluding the
impact of the pandemic, China’s exports of goods increased
by approximately 26.1% compared with 2019. Therefore, the
Company believes that the global industrial chain will still
rely on China in the short term, while the implementation of
RCEP will further strengthen China’s advantages in export,
which will provide strong market support for the Company's
development in the next few years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

The shortage of international air cargo capacity
will be pending for solution in the short term

The overall international air capacity will continue to improve
in 2022. International Air Transport Association forecasts that
industry-wide losses will further narrow to US$12 billion in
2022, and the "darkest hour” of the crisis has passed. Overall
air transport demand in 2022 will reach 61% of pre-crisis level
(2019), while air freight demand will be 13% higher than the
pre-pandemic level. However, due to continued restrictions
on cross-border travel, quarantine measures and uncertainty
arising from travelers, the recovery of international passenger
demand is slow and is expected to recover only to 44% of
the pre-pandemic level, which also means that it would be
difficult for the supply of bellyhold, which is an important
sources of international air freight, to satisfy the market
demand. Therefore, the Company believes as the shortage of
international air cargo capacity would not be resolved in the
short term, and self-owned air freight resources are required
to enhance our competitiveness in the industry.

In conclusion, the Company believes that the negative impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic will persist, but to a far lesser
degree, and the recovery trend of the global economy in 2021
will continue. Therefore, as the Company believes that the
year 2022 will be critical for its development, it will insist on
internationalization strategy, make active changes tailored to
the market and customer needs, and challenge ourselves for
greater goals. In view of this, the Company will invest more in
the following areas by further leveraging its own advantages,
the resources of its parent company and the network of its
partners, with a view to embrace challenges and achieve
sustainable business growth.

Further enhancing global partnership and the
construction of agency network

Despite the fact that the pandemic has brought impact
on the global economy to varying degrees, the Company
delivered excellent performance amid such adversity, and
such result would not be achieved without the support of
its global partners. Therefore, it is the strategic cornerstone
of the Company to continuously expand global partners and
strengthen the construction of agency network.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Further enhancing global partnership and the
construction of agency network (continued)

The Company will continuously optimize its existing agency
network management and operation mode, and enhance
information exchange, resource sharing and business
connection with its partners through refined services and
strategic communication mechanisms. Meanwhile, under
the model of resource sharing and capability exchange,
it will introduce the existing agency cooperation to other
businesses of the Group, such as international express and
parcel business, air charter, warehousing, etc., to open up
such capabilities and enhance the breadth and depth of
cooperation between the Company and the agencies. The
Company also intends to work with existing partners to
expand business in Asia by taking advantage of the brand
effect of its parent company, YTO Express, who will serve as
the official cooperative sponsor of the Asian Games Hangzhou
2022.

While strengthening the existing network, the Company is
also expanding more new agents to enhance its global service
coverage and complement its product service capabilities. It
attracts partners worldwide to join the YTO network through
strategic cooperation, licensed franchise, resource exchange
and other approaches, with a view to creating stronger effect
of scale and network, and promoting the development of its
business as a whole.

Developing the traditional markets of Europe and
the United States and focusing on the Regional
Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP)

The Company believes that the logistics and supply chain
demand emerged in the traditional European and American
markets in the post-pandemic era represents a huge
opportunity. In light of this and the fact that the Company
has strong partnerships and local resources in Europe and
the United States, these two regions will continue to be the
essential markets of the Company. Over the past two years,
the Company had fully recognized the core advantages
of having transportation resources of key routes in terms
of developing business in Europe and the United States.
In the coming year, the Company will further increase the
acquisition of transportation capacity, strategic cooperation
with airlines, and proprietary aviation lines to expand its
dominant position in the established market, and gain more
market and customer recognition in the post-pandemic era.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Developing the traditional markets of Europe and
the United States and focusing on the Regional
Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP)
(continued)

Meanwhile, the Company believes that Southeast Asia
remains one of the regions with the most potential in the
global economy. As the RCEP agreement comes into effect,
the Company believes that opportunities in this region will be
further stimulated in the next few years, which is expected
to release more business needs. The Company has a deep
cooperation network and proprietary service capabilities
in Southeast Asia, with subsidiaries established in major
countries among the 15 RCEP countries and the strong
brand influence and service capabilities. Therefore, in 2022,
the Company will, adhering to the established strategy,
strengthen investment in the region, build business service
capabilities and logistics infrastructure through various means,
develop localized service capabilities, and deepen its efforts
in capturing the development opportunities in the region.
At the same time, the Company will also leverage on the
aviation resources of its parent company, to further connect
international aviation service capabilities across the region,
build core competitive advantages, and create full-chain
products through dedicated aviation lines. The Company will
endeavor to utilize all resources to invest in the region and
create a new driver for the future growth of the Company.

Leveraging on the resources of the parent
company and tapping deep into the Chinese
export market

During the past two years which were under continued
influence of the pandemic, the global industrial chain has
become increasingly dependent on Chinese manufacturing.
Statistics on the growth rate of China’s goods trade exports
shows that the proportion of Chinese manufacturing in
international trade has further increased. As such, the
Company will explore more potential business opportunities
and achieve breakthroughs in terms of new customers and
new markets by further leveraging on the brand influence as
well as customer resources of its parent company in domestic
market, while building proprietary air logistics routes and
gradually forming a YTO international air logistics service
system utilizing the resources of YTO Airlines. During the
year, the Company expects to cooperate with YTO Airlines
to introduce more long-range all-cargo aircraft and build
proprietary routes, including the routes between China and
Europe and that between China and the United States in
order to enhance the Company’s overall reserves and service
capabilities in terms of air logistics resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

PROSPECTS (continued)

Upgrading existing business models and
expanding successful business practices

Cross-border e-commerce is one of the hot spots of
international trade in recent years, and it is also a key
strategic growth point for the Company. The Company is
committed to exploring new businesses and new models in
the cross-border e-commerce market by taking advantage
of its experience in the industry, brands, merchants, capital,
routes and other key resource advantages. In the past year,
the Company utilized the superior resources of YTO Airlines
to develop proprietary cross-border e-commerce solutions
for China-Japan dedicated routes, which successfully won
the recognition of the market as well as its customers,
and have delivered satisfactory market returns. Building on
its successful practice, in 2022, the Company will further
integrate air freight resources, with a focus on major cross-
border e-commerce markets such as Europe, the United States
and Southeast Asia, develop more competitive dedicated
air freight route solutions, and establish more full-chain
systematic product solutions, to make more breakthroughs in
the field of cross-border e-commerce, thus establishing the
distinguished advantages of the Company, and expanding its
overall business growth.

Implementing digital transformation and further
enhancing operational efficiency

The Company maintains the strategy of digital transformation
to improve operational efficiency and service quality. In
2022, the Company will continue to make investments
in this area to promote the enhancement of efficiency of
traditional business with the deployment of technologies,
such as information technology. Currently, as the Company
has deployed its transportation management system 2.0 by
stages, the new generation of business management system
and digital management tools will gradually replace the
original system, thus enabling the Company to manage its
existing business in a whole lifecycle way encompassing from
business opportunities to cash collection. Meanwhile, the
new-generation management system will maintain sufficient
system extensibility and flexibility to support the Company’s
expansion in emerging businesses. The Company will also
keep optimizing the construction of information systems,
enhance the standardized operations of its subsidiaries around
the world, improve overall operational efficiency, create an
efficient and secure global supply chain service system, and
provide its customers and partners with a better service
experience.

The Group expects to implement the aforesaid plans with its
internal resources and/or through external financing.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEAREEECEHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Huang Yifeng (“Mr. Huang”), aged 39, was appointed
as the vice president of the Company on 3 December
2018 and was promoted as the president of the Company
since 28 March 2019. With effect from 21 January 2020,
Mr. Huang was appointed as an executive Director and a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. With effect from 1 December 2020, Mr. Huang
was appointed as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee. He is now responsible for the overall strategy
planning and international express business development.
Mr. Huang graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics with a master degree in statistics. He joined YTO
Express Group in January 2016, and held various managerial
positions in strategy and merger and acquisition. Prior to
joining YTO Express Group, he had been a senior consultant
of consulting department in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
March 2007 to December 2010, as a senior investment
manager of a private equity fund, Shanghai Yonghua Capital
Management Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to November
2013, and as a senior investment director of Shanghai Fosun
High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. from November 2013 to
January 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Huang was interested in
3,717,600 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Sun Jian (“Mr. Sun”), aged 46, was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Sun obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration from Renmin University
of China in June 2015. He served as a salesman from July
1996 to October 1999, and the manager of the market
development department from October 1999 to July 2004 in
Sinotrans Eastern Co., Ltd. Logistics Branch (previously known
as Sinotrans Shanghai Company). He served as the deputy
general manager in Sinotrans Global E-commerce Logistics
Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch (previously known as Sinotrans
Air Transportation Development Corporation Limited Eastern
China Region Branch (Eastern China Region) (R HNE 7= 58 B
BRRHERATERS AR (EREE) *), and the general
manager in Sinotrans Global E-commerce Logistics Co., Ltd.
Jiangsu Company from July 2004 to May 2020. Since June
2020, he has been a vice president of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEB2HEE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Director (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Sun was interested in
4,017,600 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huijiao (“Mr. Yu"”), aged 55, was appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in information systems application and
management from FFE S S LR KX (PLA Information
Engineering University*) in December 2013. Mr. Yu founded
EliE#RIEA R A A (YTO Express Co., Ltd.*) (previously known
as E/BEBEEAR AT (Shanghai Yuantong Express
Delivery Co., Ltd.*)), a subsidiary of YTO Express, in May
2000 and currently serves as the chairman of the board of
YTO Express. Mr. Yu has served as the chairman of the board
of Yuantong Jiaolong since December 2010 and general
manager of Yuantong Jiaolong since June 2020. Mr. Yang
Xinwei, who is a non-executive Director, is the cousin-in-law
of the spouse of Mr. Yu.

As of 31 December 2021, Mr. Yu was interested in
268,229,408 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (“Mr. Pan”), aged 54, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 21 January 2020. Mr. Pan obtained
a master degree in engineering from Zhejiang University in
January 1991. From July 2006 to February 2012, Mr. Pan
served as president of HMIEHEBE B R A A (Zhejiang
Wanma Group Company Limited*) and chairman of /T
EEEERMAER LR (Zhejang Wanma Cable Company
Limited*). From March 2012 to March 2019, Mr. Pan had
been acting as the director, executive director and managing
director of L /GE##FTAIREIRE H L (Shanghai Yunfeng
New Venture Capital Investment Center*). Mr. Pan joined YTO
Express as a director in October 2016 and was appointed as
president of YTO Express since April 2019.

“ECFHR BBRRE(H

EEHE (@)
HITESE (80
RZEBE_—F+_A=+—"HB HEER
4,017,6000% f% 17 # # & # 5 HE—HS
FRHIEENRESTHRABR AR A K
T {a] 48 w/zE@szf < A8 AR 1 M (B RE R

RrEmRRE] —fe

FHUTES

MmERELE ([HWEALE]) -
—+tF+= H—E#é&%#ﬂﬁ*$
EFECEIE REZESTIRAFHZE
A&§°&W*f*_¢+ EE%W
EEREIRKRENSEEERAERLRERE
iﬂuoﬁ%iﬂ_22$¢£H%%E
BRIEM M B A BREAR AT (A
W EEEBRE ﬁ@’ﬂ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%
EEFEeIFE -BMAEAE T —TF+ =
ARETEBRRENESSERF T E =
E_EFRNAERETEABRREMNBEE-
T EEB T ELAEAMAEZEREBN
RIEEK-

- A

555% ' A

HE 181 /ﬂﬂﬂ

ez —4F+-_A=+—H WEit4%
7K268,229,408 Ik B - —F
FEBEL2HE I EEREETHRABERAR
T&Efﬂaﬂwilzwﬁ BRI K&
WERZEGRAR] —F-

—

BRKBARE([FELE]) b4 RZE =
EF-—HA-Z+—HEZEARIFNITES-
BEBEER—NAN—F— ﬁ?ﬁé?ﬁﬁlﬁﬂﬂi/
TRERBETEN - R_EEFLtAEC
——%=-R" /%%EWTE/E/I%E/%@;Q
5&’ AIZBREENIESEEROHER

A EER RZZE—Z—ZF=ZRE=%F
*jli_ﬂ DERAEBETELEEEERTE
REFZEERLZEE RTEENRESFTR
B EFXER_ZTE—ARF+AMAESR
Lﬁf%%i% WTHRZZFE-—NLFHNAEZ
TARERREBR -

KOEBRBRA

N
\\

<



mﬂﬂﬂ

R

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEB2HEE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Li Xianjun (“Mr. Li"), aged 50, was appointed as an
executive Director, the president and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on
1 December 2017. With effect from 28 March 2019, Mr. Li
ceased to be the president of the Company. With effect
from 21 January 2020, Mr. Li was re-designated as a non-
executive Director and resigned as a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Li obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in economy management from ZEHRIET
5 % E2BT (East China Polytechnic Institute of Commerce*) in
July 2007. Mr. Li joined YTO Express Group in March 2002
and held various managerial positions in different branch
offices. Mr. Li currently also serves as the vice president of
YTO Express.

As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Li was interested in 3,334,100
Shares. Please refer to the section headed “Directors’ and
chief executive's interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details. On 31 March
2022, Mr. Li resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. Chen Dong (“Mr. Chen”), aged 43, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Chen obtained
a master degree from Liverpool John Moores University in
July 2005. He is a fellow member of Institute of Financial
Accountants. Mr. Chen joined YTO Express Group in March
2018 and served as the group tax director of YTO Express.
From June 2020 onwards, he also assists in overseeing
the financial management of the Group on behalf of YTO
Express. From January 2021, he is promoted to be the senior
director of YTO Express. Mr. Chen has strong experience
in multinational companies. Prior to joining YTO Express,
he was the Asia Pacific tax manager of Essilor International
Group from July 2015 to March 2017. Between January
2011 and January 2014, Mr. Chen served as the North Asia
area tax manager of Panalpina World Transport (PRC) Ltd.
("Panalpina”). Prior to joining Panalpina, Mr. Chen served
as Tax and Compliance Manager, Johnson Electric Group, a
company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code
number: 0179). Mr. Chen had acquired senior tax consultant
working experience in two accountancy firms, namely
Pricewaterhousecoopers (Macau) Ltd and Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu CPA Ltd, Shenzhen Branch from May 2005 to May
2009.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Chen was interested in
1,600,000 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Yang Xinwei (“Mr. Yang”), aged 45, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 March 2022. Mr. Yang obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from Xidian
University (FA%Z & F R K2 ) in June 2016. Mr. Yang joined
YTO Express Group in May 2000 and held various senior
managerial positions in various subsidiaries and the aviation
division of YTO Express Group. Since July 2015, Mr. Yang has
been a vice president of YTO Express Co., Ltd. (EliBRIEARR
‘Ad]), which is a member of YTO Express Group. From June
2021, Mr. Yang has been designated by YTO Express Group
to oversee the overall strategy planning of the Company and
business development of international express. Mr. Yang is the
cousin-in-law of the spouse of Mr. Yu Huijiao, the Chairman
of the Board, a non-executive Director and controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Donghui (“Mr. Li"), aged 51, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee on 1 December 2017.
He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in philosophy from Renmin
University of China in July 1991, a master’'s degree in
management engineering from 1t R T ¥ 232 (Beijing
Institute of Machinery*) in June 1997, and a master’s degree
in business administration from Kelley School of Business
of Indiana University in March 2010. Since Mr. Li has joined
the group companies of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited
("Geely”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0175), in July 2016, he has worked for
various positions and currently serves as an executive director
and vice chairman of Geely. He currently also serves as the
chief executive officer of Zhejiang Geely Holding Group. Prior
to joining Geely, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief
financial officer of Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000528), between December 2009 and March 2011. Between
May 2014 and June 2016, Mr. Li served various positions
including as a director and the vice chairman of 4t 5 5 J5 B #k
RIBI M AR AR (Beijing Orient Landscape & Environment
Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as 1t 5 &R 75 B # % 15 A R
A7), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002310). He served as a director of ;LT &
TR M AR A E (Zhejiang Qianjiang Motorcycle Co. Ltd.*), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000913), until April 2018. Mr. Li served as an independent
director of FFRIELMLD BB AR (China CYTS Holding
Co., Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600138), until May 2020.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Xu Junmin (“"Mr. Xu"), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in electromagnetic engineering from _b & &l 2317 A £
(Shanghai University of Science and Technology*) in July
1987 and a master’s degree in business administration from
Arizona State University in May 2009. Mr. Xu had served
as an independent director of /&R KR MK BR A A
(Shanghai Richtech Engineering Co., Ltd.*), a company listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 832547), from July 2016 to December 2018. He had
also served as an independent director of & 8 95HE E T
BB AF (CWB Automotive Electronics Co. Ltd.*) (stock
code: 605005, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange since January 2021) from June 2018 to May 2021.
Mr. Xu held various positions in the group companies of £/
HEEMZERD B R AR (Juneyao Airlines Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as EEEEMEBR 2 A) (“Juneyao Airlines”),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603885), including a director of JLJTMZEABR A& (9
Air Company Limited*). He has been serving as the board
secretary and a director of Juneyao Airlines since November
2010 and July 2017 respectively. In November 2019, Mr. Xu
ceased to be a director of Juneyao Airlines and was appointed
as the vice president of Juneyao Airlines. In July 2020, he has
been appointed as a director of Juneyao Airlines. He has also
been serving as an independent director of /& — =4 H 4
IR EBRHD AR AR (Shanghai 2345 Network Holding
Group Co. Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002195) since May 2016.

EEHE (@)
BIAFHTESE (@)

BRBREEE([BELE]) 57T R
—tF+ A HEZTABIIIERNTE
T HFHELEECSTERIRBELEES R E
EAEBEXKE-BHR—NANLFELAAB
FERERMAENESER IEE2LT 840
RZZEZNFRABBHMERBMNILAKEE
SImERELTEN - R _T—XNFE+tA
EZE-NFE+-R BEEEELER
REEBRMERAA (—HMRE2RF /PN
X¥RMEZEZRABENRR BHRF:
832547) 2 BIYEF - HHR T — N\F X
AE-_ZE-_—FAANEFEEREET
B ER A (—HBEE-_—F— A&
REBBERZH ETMHRAR BHARK:
605005) MBI ESF - BRIEENLEEEFESFR
S EMARLEBETEMERHDER A A
(I LESEEMEBER2A) ([FHEM
z=]) ( IR 5E:603885) v EE A A H
IZEABY BENLTMEBRARZE
F KA _ZET—ZEF+—AK-_ZT—+HF
+t AN —HEESTEMECESTEW
EREE-R_E—NF+—A BREET
BEIEEMECEES T ESE AT EM
Rl N—_E_EFE+A H—HE
EEATHEMEESF - BB T —~F
AARE—EHETRIELERSHM LT AR
EE A RKIEREERDBER AR
(RS 002195 B EE -

el

26 YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREAREERZHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (“Mr. Chung”), aged 53, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Macquarie University in April
1992 and is a member of CPA Australia and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 20
years of experience in auditing, financial management and
corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur
Andersen (an international accounting firm) from 1992 to
1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung held several senior management
positions, including chief financial officer, executive director
and independent non- executive director, in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a
vice president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3608). Mr. Chung is also currently an independent non-
executive director of the following companies listed on the
Stock Exchange: (i) BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (stock code: 285) since June 2013; (ii) Zhengye
International Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3363)
since March 2011; (iii) B & S International Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1705) since February 2018; and (iv) Tokyo Chuo Auction
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939) since September 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Pui Wah (“Ms. Wong"), aged 47, is the
chief financial officer of the Company and the Company
Secretary. She is responsible for overall financial and banking
management and overall human resources and administrative
management of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
March 2006 and worked as an accounting manager. She
became the financial controller of the Group since August
2006. She was an executive Director on 20 December 2013
to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wong
had acquired auditing and accounting experiences by working
in various accountancy firms which include Frank Ho & Co.,
Y.L. Ngan & Company, C.W. Leung & Co. and RSM Nelson
Wheeler (currently known as RSM Hong Kong) from June
1998 to March 2006. She has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Wong
graduated from Lingnan College (currently known as Lingnan
University) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
in November 1998. She also obtained a master’'s degree in
professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2010. She is a non-practising
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Kan (“Mr. Ho"), aged 54, is the air freight
director of the Group and the regional director of China.
He is responsible for the air freight business of the Group
and manages and oversees the profit of the China region.
He has been working in the logistics industry for 30 years
and obtained bachelor’s degree in logistics and supply chain
management in 2013. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 2020 and
is based in Shanghai. Prior to joining the Group, he had
taken up various management roles in listed global logistics
companies.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Ms. Khoo Siew Chan Chorina (“Ms. Khoo"), aged 52, is
the regional director for Southeast Asia of the Group. She
is responsible for setting the business strategy and direction
as well as overseeing the business growth and operations
of various branches in the Southeast Asia region. Ms. Khoo
first joined the Group in November 2015 as the Managing
Director for our Singapore office but left in May 2020 to
pursue alternative interests. She re-joined the Group in July
2021. Ms. Khoo obtained a bachelor of science degree in
business and management studies from University of Bradford
in July 1998. She has 20 years of experience in the logistics
and freight forwarding industry, of which 13 years was spent
working for a Nasdag-listed company holding management
positions including overseeing the Singapore office as
managing director with an operations of more than 300
people.

Mr. Ng King Wah, Kevin (“Mr. Ng”), aged 41, is the trade
lane director of the Group. He is responsible for the overseas
network of the Group and overseeing the development,
sales and profitability of the commercial activities with the
international partners of the Group. He joined the Group in
2004 as operations executive and became sales executive and
route development manager from 2006 to 2015. Then he was
promoted as regional commercial manager and trade lane
manager from 2015 to 2020. He was appointed as head of
trade lane management in 2021. Mr. Ng has been working in
logistics industry locally and regionally for 18 years.

Mr. Tang Chi Ho (“Mr. Tang”), aged 41, is the Hong Kong
station manager of the Group. He has been with the Group
since August 2001 and Mr. Tang held different position in
Hong Kong station’s air freight department during August
2001 to March 2014. He has been the Group's operations
manager from April 2014 to September 2019 where he was
responsible for air freight operational matters. Since October
2019, Mr. Tang was promoted to the Hong Kong station
manager of the Group and is responsible for the operational
matters in Hong Kong. He obtained a bachelor's degree in
business management from University of Wolverhampton in
September 2008.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the FY2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 6 March 2013.
The Shares were listed on 11 July 2014 on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. The Company acts as an investment
holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are provision of freight forwarding services. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year, other than the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Plan, as set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” of this Directors’
Report, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the FY2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 96.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.5 cents (2020: HK6.1 cents) per Share, absorbing a total
amount of about HK$27,312,000 (2020: HK$25,422,000),
in respect of the FY2021, which is subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Thursday, 9 June
2022. The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on
Friday, 8 July 2022 to all Shareholders whose names to be
appeared on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 22 June 2022.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of the Company’s
net profits as dividends to the Shareholders. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders taking into account the following:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans; and
interests of Shareholders.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 249. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which
includes particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and "MD&A”
in this annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators is
included in the section headed “MD&A"” in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group is included in the section headed “MD&A" and
notes 4, 6, 40 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. The review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environment protection

The Group complies with environmental legislation,
encourages environmental protection and promotes its
awareness to all employees of the Group. The Group commits
to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To
help conserve the environment, it implements green office
practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far
as possible, encouraging use of recycled paper for printing
and copying, double-sided printing and copying, setting up
recycling bins, reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
The Group will review its environmental practices from time
to time and consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures, sustainability targets and practices in the operation
of the Group’s businesses to embrace the principles of
reducing, recycling and reuse, and further minimize the
impact on the natural environment.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from our
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers,
vendors and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high-
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are engaged in garment,
footwear and electronic industries and delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business. The Group has the mission
to provide excellent customer service in air freight and sea
freight and all range of logistic services whilst maintaining
long term profitability, business and asset growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group in the provision of
excellent customer service towards market penetration and
expansion.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Relationships with key stakeholders (continued)
Vendors

Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, airline company, shipping line
company and business agents and when meeting business
challenges and regulatory requirements, which can derive cost
effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance
corporate value to Shareholders. The Group is committed
to fostering business developments for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders
by stable dividend payouts, taking into account of capital
adequacy levels, liquidity positions and business expansion
needs of the Group.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the FY2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company did not hold any
properties for development and/or sale or investment
purposes which exceeds 5% of the percentage ratios under
rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules.

The decrease in the fair value of the investment properties
which has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the FY2021
amounted to HK$49,000.

The increase in the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment which has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the FY2021 amounted to HK$741,000.

Details of these and other movements in the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
FY2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed about 962
employees (as at 31 December 2020: about 893 employees).
Remuneration packages are generally structured to market
terms, individual qualifications and experience. The Company
has also adopted a share option scheme and a share award
plan for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants, including the employees of the Group,
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Training activities have also been conducted to improve the
performance of sales and marketing activities and customer
services.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities
during the FY2021.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the FY2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's distributable reserve as at 31 December 2021
as calculated under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman lIslands,
amounted to HK$438,834,000 (2020: HK$427,427,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the FY2021 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Huang Yifeng
Mr. Sun Jian (Appointed on 31 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, Chairman

Mr. Pan Shuimiao

Mr. Li Xianjun (Resigned on 31 March 2022)
Mr. Lin Kai (Resigned on 31 March 2021)

Mr. Chen Dong (Appointed on 31 March 2021)

Mr. Yang Xinwei (Appointed on 31 March 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Huang Yifeng, Mr. Pan
Shuimiao, Mr. Li Donghui and Mr. Yang Xinwei will retire at
the forthcoming AGM and all of them, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EERRSTHRAERAATRE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN @HBZIE 2RO HEROGRE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND #HEHDzE#EEZRAXAE

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

+—8" %%&K
X A 3K fa] A8 Bt
BB EXVER) 2 I’

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of %
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the =2
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or (EEREZES )32,\ =i
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV {7 HEROMEEETHEREZ AL
of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept HI & f§ 1§|J§E3 21%&5% BRETHEZER

m

under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to A Z s &K B - SR I £ 4R Al Pﬁ'ﬁ"
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model — + Ff & 1Z # <7 l@“J MASITHE ARE RE
Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as RFrZ iz EAB T
follows:
(A) Long position in ordinary Shares (A) REBRZER
Approximate
Number of percentage* of
Shares involved shareholding
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest P RZ BRER
EEHS B EnitE gl 4= Rl
Mr. Yu Huijiao Interest of controlled corporations 268,229,408 63.84%
(Noz‘e 7)
gy & 1% 50 A& TEE R ERS (AT
Mr. Huang Yifeng Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,717,600 0.88%
miRIE LA BEmMEB A (K1i22)
Mr. Sun Jian Beneficial owner (Note 3) 4,017,600 0.96%
FEEE EmmE A (HiE3)
Mr. Li Xianjun Beneficial owner (Note 3&4) 3,334,100 0.79%
e BEmMEB AN (K1iE384)
Mr. Chen Dong Beneficial owner (Note 3) 1,600,000 0.38%
BRAZSE A EmmE A (HiE3)
Notes: i
1. These Shares are held by YTO Global Holdings Limited, a 1. ZERNBEHEZERBE 2 ARERA
company wholly owned by Yuan Jun. Yuan Jun is a company BIRZERERATRE - BEHHERRE
wholly owned by YTO Express, which is in turn owned as E2EHE MEAREESEBEBRE
to 31.76% by Yuantong liaolong. Yuantong Jiaolong is a 31.76 %R E-BAREA —KAWMS
company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao and 49% B B AR 2 Be B 5k /N 2 = 9 Bl FF
by his spouse, Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. By virtue of the SFO, B51%R49% R #E 2 AR - BIREF &
Mr. Yu Huijiao and Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan are deemed to HEEL mEREERKNEZLH
be interested in the Shares held by YTO Global Holdings RAREBEEERERAARFEZ
Limited. P ERER -

N
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares (continued)

2.

These Shares comprise (i) 700,000 Shares held by Mr. Huang
Yifeng; and (ii) 3,017,600 Shares which represented the
interests in award shares granted by the Company on
10 June 2021 and remain unvested.

These Shares represented the interests in award shares
granted by the Company on 10 June 2021 and remain
unvested.

With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Li Xianjun resigned as
a non-executive Director of the Company.

(B) Long position in the shares of associated
corporations of the Company

BEENBESITHAERARARE
MEBEItE 2R HERORE
EEP2ERRAE #)
(A) REBRZFE (&)

2. ZEROGBIE(NHERELTERAN
700,0008% B% 15 + K (i) 3,017,6008% A% 1
ARRAR_ZE-_—F~A+BFRE
BERNDPHEZBEDNRER-

3. ZERDAARARAR=ZZT=Z—F~A
THABEREROTOEZEDRS
%o

4. THEEBLEERTIARRIRNTEE A
- -F=ZR=+—HEEM-

(B) REQRAEBEIBRD 2HF R

Number of shares
involved/amount of

Approximate
percentage* of

Name of registered capital shareholding
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Ry Rz2BRAEE BARER
EEpng HEEEER 5t/ BENE MR EEHE BAL*
Mr. Yu Huijiao YTO Express Interest of controlled corporations 1,090,806,213 31.76%
BERLE Bl RE REEENER
Beneficial owner 100,673,929 2.93%
EREAA
Interest of spouse 74,027,054 2.16%
iBER
Yuan Jun Interest of controlled corporations RMB1,800,000,000 100.00%
Bl RELERER AE%1,800,000,0007T
YTO Global Holdings Interest of controlled corporations 1,600,000,000 100.00%
Limited

BRERERERAR XEEEMER

Note: The relations between Mr. Yu Huijiao and the above

associated corporations are set out in note 1 of part (A)
of the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation”. YTO Global Holdings Limited, YTO Express
and Yuan Jun are the direct/indirect holding companies of
the Company. In this connection, YTO Express, Yuan Jun and
YTO Global Holdings Limited are associated corporations of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage represents the number of shares involved
divided by the number of issued shares or registered capital
of the Company/associated corporation as at 31 December
2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” below, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the FY2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” below
and in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the FY2021 or at
any time during the FY2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the FY2021 and as at the date of approval of
this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and
expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any legal
proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of
which indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or
dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis. During the FY2021, no claims were made against the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Huang Yifeng has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
21 January 2020 renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Sun Jian has been appointed as an executive Director
and Mr. Chen Dong has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2021, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Donghui,
Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (each an
independent non-executive Director), have been appointed for
a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2017, which
shall be automatically renewable for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current term of appointment unless terminated by giving
not less than three months’ written notice by either party.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao and Mr. Li Xianjun have been appointed as
non-executive Directors by the Company for an initial term
of one year commencing from 21 January 2020, which shall
be renewed and extended automatically for successive terms
of one year each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of the initial term
or thereafter.

Mr. Yang Xinwei has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2022, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders
on 21 June 2014 (the "“Share Option Scheme Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years after the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date and
shall expire on 21 June 2024.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme
Limit”). As at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
37,218,000 Shares, representing about 8.86% of the issued
share capital of the Company. The Company may renew the
General Scheme Limit with Shareholders’ approval provided
that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

During the FY2021, no share options have been outstanding,
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted the Share Award Plan on 17 August
2018 (the "“Share Award Plan Adoption Date”). The
purposes of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of the eligible participants to the
growth and development of the Group, to give incentives
to the eligible participants in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Participants of the Share Award Plan include all the
employees, directors, suppliers, customers of the Group,
persons or entities that provide research, development or
other technological support to the Group, shareholders of
any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the
Group and any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and growth
of the Group.

Subject to any earlier termination as may be determined by
the Board, the Share Award Plan will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from the Share Award Plan Adoption Date
and shall expire on 17 August 2028.

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the Board (by itself or through the plan administrator) and
the trustee in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Plan and the terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

In any given financial year of the Company, the maximum
number of Shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the trustee by utilising the funds to be allocated by the Board
out of the Company’s resources for the purpose of the Share
Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the beginning of such financial year. None of the
Board or the plan administrator shall instruct the trustee to
subscribe for and/or purchase any Shares for the purpose of
the Share Award Plan when such purchase and/or subscription
will result in such threshold being exceeded.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

The total number of Shares available for grant under the
Share Award Plan was 21,009,500 Shares, representing 5% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at 1 January
2022 and the date of this annual report. There was no
restriction on the maximum number of Shares to be granted
under the Share Award Plan to each participant. The Board
may from time to time, at its discretion, determine the vesting
date, any conditions or performance targets or consideration
to be attained or paid by the selected participant(s) and upon
which the trustee of the Share Award Plan shall transfer the
awarded Shares to the relevant participant(s).

Details of the Share Award Plan were disclosed in the
Company’'s announcements dated 17 August 2018 and
24 August 2018.

During the FY2021, no Shares were purchased by the trustee
of the Share Award Plan pursuant to the terms of the trust
deed of the Share Award Plan (2020: Nil).

B% 1 5E B 5t &l (@)
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F-—A—BRAFHBPEHTHRAELE
H15% - IRIEWH REFHEIM S L2 EERD
MmO B TER -EFS0 T
HEETrRERS THKEGREETL2HAE
HBIE &iﬁ%%ﬁam&ﬁ% i B
HEBFEZEAB L MARSEE &R

HEAAD

HEBTENFBERARRAB
T N FNAFLAR-%
T HMRERE-

=
o | |

“E-—FYRFE BROEBFENT
EAMERBERND ZBTENEEREN
GEHRBERG (ZS_FF: &) -

[7A YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERE

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the
Share Award Plan for the FY2021 are as follows:

Name or category of
selected participants

BESRENEIRA

Connected selected participants
(Note (1)
BERRSEE ()
Ms. Wong Pui Wah
ERERT

Director

i3

Mr. Huang Yifeng
ERERT

Mr. Li Xianjun

FTRIEE

Mr. Sun Jian

jid-3%:3

Mr. Chen Dong

R&ELE

Sub-total
Nt

Date of award

EL R

31 August 2018
“2-\§N\A=t-H
10 June 2021

“R-ERATE

31 August 2018
“®-NENA=T-R
10 June 2021

Z22-57A1H

10 June 2021

“R--55A1H

10 June 2021

ZE--F7A1A

10 June 2021

ZR-%7A1H

Vesting dates

BEAN

1 September 2021

“2--FAA-A

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

BRAHRERTRAANGE_F -6 282 2F =
FZERCFCMELC —BIHEREENER
FENEZARESTAKNESR

1 September 2021

“E--5nA-H

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively

BUARNERAEARARE S -F 252 2F 2
BoERCECMETAST-ALFRRENER
$ENEZBRE-TRENESE

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUARRERHFARABE-F--F 2§22 =
ToZERCBCMFTCAS-BIERAFNER
FENEZARESTAKNESR

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANRRRHERAAHE-F--F ZF-2F =
ToZER-ECMETCASH-BILEREENER
FENEZRRECTRENEER

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANNERIEARARE-F-—F 5 =F =
ToZERZFCMFTCASH-BIEREFNER
FENMEZBRECTHENESE

7

i
N =

% 17 22 Bh 51 & (a0

——FMREE RERDERG
FEREM R EBESHFENT

Number of share awards
Rft%BYE

Awarded
Outstanding during the Cancelled Outstanding
asat Reporting Vested during Lapsed during during the asat
1 January Period the Reporting the Reporting Reporting 31 December
2021 (Note (2)) Period Period Period 2021
BEHR RoB=-F
R-Bz-% BRY B8R REHR #&8n  tZA=t-A
-fA-BAER (Kit) B ] 234 BE# it
560,000 = (560,000) = = =
= 800,000 = = = 800,000
700,000 = (700,000) = = =
= 3,017,600 = = = 3,017,600
= 3,334,100 = = = 3,334,100
- 4,017,600 - - - 4,017,600
= 1,600,000 = = = 1,600,000
1,260,000 12,769,300 (1,260,000) - - 12,769,300

TR BARE (BR)ZERERAF 45




N

mﬂﬂﬂ

N

2

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEWRE

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the

% 17 22 Bh 51 & (a0

2

RZZF-—FHRFE REBRMDZE

Share Award Plan for the FY2021 are as follows: (continued) EREHROHBBEBFEOT : (F)
Number of share awards
RORBHE
Awarded
Outstanding during the Cancelled Outstanding
asat Reporting Vested during ~ Lapsed during during the asat

Name or category of 1 January Period the Reporting the Reporting Reporting 31 December

selected participants Date of award Vesting dates 2021 (Note (2)) Period Period Period 2021

EEET R-B=-%
RZB=-% 2R HEHR BEER gEER  TZA=t-A

BESRENEAER #MAH ] L] -B-B#8R (Hi) 2] ] BAR G ] kit

Independent selected participants 31 August 2018 1 September 2021 3,150,000 = (2,170,000) (980,000) = =

BUERsRE ZE-N\§N\A=1-H —E--%AR-H

10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the = 5,200,000 = (600,000) = 4,600,000
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
Z22-F7A1H BHEAARHE-E--F “F-2F -
SERZBCMETAZT-ALERE ﬁﬁ*ﬁlﬁ
$ENEVBRE-TRENESR

Sub-total 3,150,000 5,200,000 2,170,000) (1580,000) 5 4,600,000

/]\ﬁ-

Total 4,410,000 17,969,300 (3430,000) (1580,000) 5 17,369,300

#t

Notes: st -

(1) Other than Ms. Wong Pui Wah (being the chief financial officer of (1) RABEEH BEREL T (AAQFEE
the Company and a director of certain members of the Group), all MBERAEBETKEARMNES)IN A
of the connected selected participants are Directors as at the date FREET2mENRES
of this report.

) During FY2021, the Company has granted, and the relevant (2) WR-_ZT - —FHHREE RiE Hﬁ 15 52 B &t
selected participants have accepted, 17,969,300 share awards B ARFEREREHRETL2EEDE
under the Share Award Plan (the “2021 Share Awards"), 17,969,300 R R ([ ZF = —F K
with a nominal value of HK$1,796,930 and a market value of mEEE)]) - MEE1,796,9308 T Kk MEY
approximately HK$84,995,000 (based on the closing price of the 84,995,000 T (AN —_ZE=_—F A +8"
Shares on 10 June 2021, being the date when the Board had MEEFERERLE T -_—FRMEBHER
resolved to grant the 2021 Share Awards). Details of the 2021 R HEHE) T —FRMHEEF
Share Awards were disclosed in the Company’s announcements BRARARBHA-_ZT-_—FA+H &:
dated 10 June 2021 and 6 July 2021 and circular dated T FEtAXRANAERBHR-ZEZ
13 September 2021. FNA+=B®BEKE-
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities for the Group's eligible
employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars
of these retirement plans are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements. The retirement benefit
plans operated by the Group were defined contribution
schemes. The contribution made by the Group vest fully with
the employees when contribution was made by the Group
and no forfeited contribution could be used by the Group to
reduce existing level of contributions.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following corporations or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in ordinary Shares

Name of shareholder

BRESE8 56 #atE

Beneficial owner

BEnEA A

YTO Global Holdings Limited
(Note)
ERERZERERAR (#i7)

YTO Express (Note)

BRIE (K1) TIEEENESE
Yuantong Jiaolong (Note)
Bl EE (i) L E R S
Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan (Note)

RANBR L (BTEE) X EEN RS

Capacity/nature of interest

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

BRI

AEBEREERNTEEEZ2HATEE
Ko T BT #4% R AR A /O TE BB FUR IR 48 A RF
B TAEBEERALAGHEAKS
AR ZFRAFENFBTRARNEETB
R MY FE42 A 5K BB AF 2 R R A8 B AT &

7% TE BB SRET 81 o AN &R [ F A R AR
SEFELEFETHRBENEE HER
U B BRRT N SR 8 4R B 3R A A BOK
EPO

TEBRRRROKEBERMD S 2
BmRKE

R

R-E-_—F+_HA=1t—HB BEFH
A RIRE S5 RS GG F3361% A REA
THREzERMAELE T EAEHAL
(EFEHARAKRSBTHRABEIN RBH
REBEBROZERIOXRIT

EBERZHER

Percentage*
of the
Number Company’s
of Shares issued share
involved capital
¥Rz EEARREHITR
g 4= KzBEDH*
268,229,408 63.84%
268,229,408 63.84%
268,229,408 63.84%
268,229,408 63.84%

“E-_—F% BRRE (BER)ZERERA

N
\\

<



-

mﬂﬂﬂ

N

2

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEWRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Long position in ordinary Shares (continued)
Note:

These interests are also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Yu Huijiao in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation”.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares involved divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed "“Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the
Group are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the sections headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, none of the related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which was subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the FY2021, the Group has conducted the following
connected transaction.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

RApGFEORERESRE

8
Grant of Share Awards under the Share Award R 5%
Plan to Connected Selected Participants BB
A

On 10 June 2021, the Board has resolved to grant the 2021 R =& = +H EEFARE
Share Awards to participants under the Share Award Plan, Hﬁﬁ i L‘%ﬁ]% FM2HEERH T —FRK
among which, 12,769,300 awarded Shares (the “Connected {5 ©12,769,3000% S ENAE 1 ([
Award Shares”) were granted to five selected participants @ﬁ@]ﬂ Eﬁ%?ﬁ%$ AIEAE AL
who are connected persons of the Company (the “Connected E’Uﬂ%km%éﬁi% (lEErsmE]) .
Selected Participants”) in order to provide them incentive NHEBIHRZELHNEHE AAEEFNES
to strive for higher returns to the Group and promote the @ %R # B) 7K &= [E #) K SRR o

Group's future development.

)4\
4\/

Set forth below are details of the Connected Award Shares: T E B REN R () 2 B
Number of

Name of Connected Selected Relationship with the Group as at the date of Connected
Participants the grant Award Shares
BEEESHEME REFHHELAEENER BEXRBROHA
Li Xianjun Non-executive Director 3,334,100

(resigned on 31 March 2022)
FHE% FEBMITES

(RZFE-—F=ZH=+—HEFT)

Sun Jian Executive Director and the chief executive 4,017,600

officer of the Company
Rk RABITEERITIAR
Huang Yifeng Executive Director 3,017,600
HRIE HMITESE
Chen Dong Non-executive Director 1,600,000
S FPTES
Wong Pui Wah Chief financial officer of the Company 800,000

and director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company

= E RABMBBEREARRIETHBEARNES

Total 12,769,300
et

Since each of the Connected Selected Participants is a Director HRSHERF2EEAES R HARQ
and/or director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, the FETHBAAMNESZS ARKZR QA%
allotment and issue of the Connected Award Shares to each K3 /TRAEEER M EK EHHRAE TR
of them constituted connected transactions of the Company 2R AMNBEELX S REER T - —F+
under the Listing Rules. The grant of the Connected Award A /\ B £21TH A QAR RS 5 K& it & H
Shares to the Connected Selected Participants was approved FBEE TR E R TREZBRD -

by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 8 October 2021.

N
\\
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued) BAEXS (&)

Consideration RE

The Connected Selected Participants are required to pay (the FRBEEFLQ2EEENEEHRA F%Lﬁ@]ﬂx
“\lesting Price”) a vesting price of HK$2.37 per Connected MAEBZEAREBRES ([BRENE %ZJJ:E
Award Share on or before the applicable Vesting Date to Hl])skz RN SR EEHLB KR MH2.3778
which the vesting of the relevant Connected Award Shares JTZ8REBE ([BEBE]) T A BEERH
relates (the “Prescribed Payment Deadline”), failing which, the  B%15 ~ #2 B & & 7k -

awards of the Connected Award Shares shall automatically

lapse.
Vesting 5B
The Selected Participant Award Shares shall be vested on the BFL2XHEEME)KRMH BN TF) B H B W0
following date as follows: T:
Percentage
of Selected
Participant Award
Shares to be
vested
BTHEE
Vesting Year Vesting Date BESHERD
BEFEH FEBEH RBBED L
2022 The Business Day immediately after the 30th day of the date of publication 25%
of the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2021 pursuant to the Listing Rules.
—E-- BERBELTRATZRARDEEZE S F+_A=-+—HLEFEZ2R
FRENEHREIRBIEER
2023 The Business Day immediately after the 30th day of the date of publication 25%
of the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2022 pursuant to the Listing Rules.
—T-= ZEBRELTRAFIBEARAEE_S_ZF+-A=+T—HLEFEZ2
FRENEHEIRB2EER
2024 The Business Day immediately after the 30th day of the date of publication 25%
of the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2023 pursuant to the Listing Rules.
—TZWF ERRBE L TRNHNBERARABE_Z_=F+-_A=+—RHILEFEZ2
FRENEHEIRB2EER
2025 The Business Day immediately after the 30th day of the date of publication 25%

of the annual results announcement of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2024 pursuant to the Listing Rules.

ZE-RF ERERBE TR HNBERARABZE_S-_NF+_A=+T—RHIEFEZ2
FREBENEREIHEZEEH-

N
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

Vesting Conditions

Subject as provided under the Plan, (i) vesting of 50% of
the Connected Award Shares on a particular vesting date is
unconditional; and (ii) vesting of the remaining 50% of the
Connected Award Shares is conditional upon the personal
level performance targets.

For further details of the 2021 Share Awards granted to
the Connected Selected Participants, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2021 and 6 July
2021 and circular dated 13 September 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FY2021, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express

On 24 April 2019, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “"Master Service Agreement”) with YTO Express, pursuant
to which (i) the Company have appointed YTO Express
Members as the Group’s agents for the rest of the world;
and (ii) YTO Express have appointed the Group as YTO
Express Members’ agents for the rest of the world, for the
provision of international express and parcel services and/or
air and ocean freight services for the term commencing as
of 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 unless terminated
earlier by 30 days’ written notice by either party.

Throughout the FY2021, YTO Express is a company owned
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is
a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder) and 49% by
his spouse. Accordingly, YTO Express is a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

BEXS (@)

5B %R

BREFEHRTE (WWETHEBBHREKGSH
B50% @8 & 42 B A 17 &(n)ﬁ%Tm%EﬁL
BEHBRONEERAREABENRIER
Zo

EEMBEERT2EERTFT T - —FK
HEBNE—FFBE BL2HMARAFTAE
B-E-_—F~NAt+BR=-ZZF=-_—F+A
NBZASERBHAZZTE-_—FHALAT=
HZ K-

%llﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
RIE-—FHHREERN AEBETU
\ﬁ@fimﬁWWﬁ+ﬁﬁ?m%%%
BEBRG:

HEBRENARK TS
RZE—NEWA-_+WMA AAFREE
BEIET Y — D1 ([42 mﬁ%%ﬂ B
fr:(WARARBEZRITEBREKXE QAR A
$%@Eﬁﬁ%m%ﬁ@ K (i) Bl B R &
E%E$%EHE@%EWEETE@R

FHHRE URERBRENEERS
5B N EERS a%m E—NhF
—A—HRE_E=-_—F+=-_A=+—8H
W fEER—FAETHIOENEARATIR
Bk

RS- —FHRFERN BBREAE
BREHEBABB30%N QA mEBRE
BlameREE(—BIERTEERITER
BEE)RERBD R AB51%NR49% K A

Al e BBt - RIE £ W AR RIF14A.07 15k - Bl B
HESANRANBEEAL-
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express
(continued)

The annual caps of (i) international express and parcel services
and air and ocean freight services fees to be paid by the
Group to YTO Express Members; and (ii) international express
and parcel services and air and ocean under the Master
Service Agreement for FY2021 were HK$386.3 million and
HK$481.0 million, respectively.

For the FY2021, (i) international express and parcel services
and air and/or ocean freight services fees paid by the
Group to YTO Express Members under the Master Service
Agreement was approximately HK$323.8 million; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and/or ocean
freight services income received by the Group from YTO
Express Members under the Master Service Agreement was
approximately HK$215.1 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 24 April
2019 and 23 August 2019 and the circular dated 29 October
2019 for further details of the Master Service Agreement.
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(continued)

Master Charter Agreement with YTO Cargo

On 23 August 2019, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the “Master Charter Agreement”) with YTO Cargo, pursuant
to which YTO Cargo will provide air freight chartering
services to the Group to and from countries and regions
around the world for the transportation of air cargoes for a
term commencing from 27 November 2019 (i.e. the date of
approval by the independent Shareholders of, among others,
the transactions contemplated under the Master Charter
Agreement at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 27 November 2019) to 31 December 2021
unless terminated earlier by 60 days’ written notice by either

party.

Throughout the FY2021, YTO Cargo was a wholly owned
subsidiary of YTO Express, which was owned as to over 30%
by Yuantong lJiaolong, which in turn is owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly. YTO Cargo
is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of
the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transaction amounts under the
Master Charter Agreement, including (i) the charter fee and
other charter related fees (including but not limited to fuel
surcharge and deicing fee) for each of the countries and
regions around the world (the “Charter and Related Fees”);
and (ii) all expenses related to cargo terminal operations (the
“Cargo Terminal Expenses”) at departure and destination
airport (which may be payable by YTO Cargo to the relevant
cargo terminal on behalf of the Group) and handling fees
in respect of the Cargo Terminal Expenses to be paid and/or
reimbursed by the Group to YTO Cargo are HK$643.4 million
for FY2021.

For the FY2021, Charter and Related Fees, Cargo Terminal
Expenses and handling fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal
Expenses paid and/or reimbursed by the Group to YTO Cargo
under the Master Charter Agreement was approximately
HK$0.3 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
23 August 2019 and circular dated 29 October 2019 for
further details of the Master Charter Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

During the FY2021, the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
(as defined below) constitute non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT BVI
entered into the following agreements (the “OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements”) with Miss Ruchirek Pipatsriswat
("Miss Ruchirek”) on 25 October 2013, who is a substantial
shareholder holding 33.5% of shareholding interest in
On-Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT Thailand”):

(1) Loan assignment entered into between OT HK as
assignor, OT BVI as assignee and Miss Ruchirek as
borrower, whereby, the non-interest bearing loan for
an aggregate principal amount of THB3,350,000 then
owed by Miss Ruchirek to OT HK, was assigned to OT
BVI and the loan shall be repayable on demand by OT
BVI. The loan is conditional and secured by the pledge
of shares in OT Thailand from time to time held by
Miss Ruchirek under the share pledge agreement, and
the arrangements under the proxy and the letter of
undertakings.

(2) Share pledge agreement entered into between OT BVI
as lender and Miss Ruchirek as borrower, whereby,
Miss Ruchirek has pledged in favour of OT BVI, among
others, her 33.5% of the total shareholding interest
of OT Thailand, and all further shares and securities
deriving from such pledged shares, or otherwise
acquired and held by Miss Ruchirek from time to time.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Miss Ruchirek to OT BVI
and OT Thailand, whereby, among others, she has
irrevocably assigned and directed all dividends and
distributions declared, paid and payable by OT Thailand
and all distributions of assets and capital made and to
be made by OT Thailand in relation to the shares of OT
Thailand from time to time held by her to OT BVI (or
such person as from time to time designated by it).

Proxy by Miss Ruchirek to OT Thailand, whereby, Miss
Ruchirek has irrevocably appointed OT BVI or any
person nominated by it to act as Miss Ruchirek’s proxy
to attend, act and vote in respect of the shares in OT
Thailand in her name and on her behalf at any general
meeting of shareholders of OT Thailand.

OT Thailand contributed to about 1.9% of the Group’s total
revenue for the FY2021 (FY2020: 4.6%). Through the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements, the financial results of
OT Thailand were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements as if it was the Company’s subsidiary and, as a
result, the Group bears 82.5% of the economic risks and
losses of OT Thailand.

A dividend in an amount of THB40,000,000 (“OT Thailand
Dividend”) for the FY2021 was made by OT Thailand to its
shareholder, in which 82.5% of the OT Thailand Dividend was
paid to OT BVI.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT HK entered
into the following agreements (the “OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements”) with Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. (“Vietnam
Owner”) on 6 November 2013, which is a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the total charter capital of On
Time Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“OT Vietnam”):

(1) Loan agreement entered into between OT HK as the
lender and Vietnam Owner as the borrower, whereby,
OT HK advanced to Vietnam Owner the interest bearing
loan for a principal amount of US$4,900 and the loan
shall be repayable on 22 December 2025 (or such later
date as mutually agreed between the parties). The
loan is conditional and secured by the mortgage of the
charter capital in OT Vietnam from time to time owned
by Vietnam Owner under the charter capital mortgage
agreement, and the arrangements under the proxy and
the letter of undertaking.

(2) Charter capital mortgage agreement entered into
between OT HK as lender and Vietnam Owner as
borrower, whereby, the Vietnam Owner has mortgaged
in favour of OT HK, among others, all its 49% in the
total charter capital of OT Vietnam, and all further
charter capital and securities deriving from such
mortgaged capital, or otherwise acquired and held by
Vietnam Owner from time to time (whether by way of
acquisition from the other shareholder(s) of OT Vietnam

&

BEXS @)

SEFHANZHEREEBEENR
B (@®m)

REBBENZH
BNMBRER[EL SEAREPERE-L

EMEAENLH] —HRARE

TEERR

RZE—=F+— A BEEFHFON Time
Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.
([EEBE]) 9% FTMERBENETE
B Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. ([#i 5
EJJ\)J)ETILXTT%%E%(HE%&@@%%@?

(1)

[Ht

SEBE(EAER ) HBBEEE A
(EBERIVUNERRZ Bt
REBTARNBEEAEARN AL
4900 E LW EEFR MEZER
TR RFF A+ ZH(KETH
FHEEHBENEBEEEBH)EE-
EXBEKGE YhumES ARE
HMEAERGR TEERERKE
THLZHETHEEN T ELEEIME
AR TR ©

TERE(FREN)EBBEESR A
(1ERET7) RIS B L& A & H 1%
FoBI BEEBACUAEEZRE
REFABER(EPEF)ERNLE
BEMNA9% 2 MEMERNRZEEE
MR AMOTE S BEEA AT AE
i NWBKFFA (T wmEB BRI
EMEAEMRRKBRR L ZBE
MEMERNE - FHENTT )P

or by further contribution to the charter capital of OT EHEMEAMEARARFS -
Vietnam).
56 YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021 56



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Vietnam Owner to OT HK,
whereby, among others, it has irrevocably assigned and
directed all dividends and distributions declared, paid
and payable by OT Vietnam and all distributions of
assets and capital made and to be made by OT Vietnam
in relation to the shares of OT Vietnam from time to
time held by it to OT HK (or such person as from time
to time designated by it).

(4) Proxy dated 6 November 2013 by Vietnam Owner to
OT Vietnam, whereby, Vietnam Owner has irrevocably
appointed OT HK to nominate any person(s) designated
by OT HK to act as the authorised representative(s) to
participate in the board of directors of OT Vietnam
and to act and exercise, on behalf of Vietham Owner,
all its power in respect of all the charter capital of OT
Vietnam registered in its name.

OT Vietnam contributed to about 3.4% of the Group's
total revenue for the FY2021 (FY2020: 2.3%). Through the
operation of the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangement, the
financial results of OT Vietnam were consolidated into the
Group’s financial statements as if it was the Company’s
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and, as a result, the Group
bears 100% of the economic risks and losses of OT Vietnam.

No dividend was made by OT Vietnam to its shareholders for
the FY2021.

For risks associated with the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
relating to OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for
details. To mitigate such risks associated, the Group intends
to unwind the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements as soon as possible
if and when the relevant laws in the respective jurisdictions
allow the Group to operate in such jurisdictions without such
arrangements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

The purpose of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements is to provide the
Group with effective control over the financial and operational
policies of OT Thailand and OT Vietnam, to obtain the economic
benefits from OT Thailand and OT Vietnam and acquire the
equity interests in OT Thailand and OT Vietnam as and when
permitted under the applicable laws in Thailand or Vietnam and
to allow the Company to consolidate the financial results of OT
Thailand and OT Vietnam into the Group's financial statements
as if they were the Group’s subsidiaries, and the economic
benefit of their business flows to the Group.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised), "Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. KPMG has issued its unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
Master Service Agreement, the Master Charter Agreement,
the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements in respect of the FY2021
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, with
an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to the fact that
the Company is not required to establish nor announced
an annual cap in respect of the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
for the FY2021. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

KPMG also confirmed that, for FY2021, nothing has come
to their attention that the above continuing connected
transactions (i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii)
were not, in all material respects, conducted in accordance
with the pricing policies of Group; (iii) were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; (iv) have
exceeded the respective annual caps (if applicable); and
(v) in respect of the arrangements under the OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements, there were any dividends or other distributions
made by OT Thailand or OT Vietnam to their registered
owners which are otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group.
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(continued)

Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Master Service Agreement and the Master Charter
Agreement in respect of the FY2021 and confirmed that these
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that, in FY2021, the arrangements under the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements have remained unchanged and
consistent with the disclosure as set out in the Prospectus;
and both of the said arrangements are fair and reasonable
so far as the Group is concerned and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the section headed
“Continuing connected transactions” above and the
transactions as disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements, during FY2021, there was no contract
of significance (i) between the Company or its subsidiaries
and the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries;
or (ii) for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the sections headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions’, no contracts of significance concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or subsisted during the FY2021.
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INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

During 1 January 2021 and up to the date of this report,
the following Director was considered to have an interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the
"Competing Business”), as defined in the Listing Rules, details
of which are set out below:

Name of Director Mr. Yu Huijiao, non-executive Director of the
Company, who is also a substantial shareholder
of YTO Express

Nature and scope of YTO Express Group is principally engaged in
the Competing  the warehousing and distribution of goods as a

Business leader in the express and courier service market

in the PRC
Size of the YTO Express is a company listed on the
Competing Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
Business 600233), with market capitalization amounted

to RMB57.3 billion as at 31 December 2021

The positions held by the Directors in YTO

Express are as follows:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, chairman of the board of YTO
Express and chairman of the board and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong

Mr. Li Xianjun, vice president

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, director and president

Mr. Lin Kai, former vice president and
chief financial officer

Mr. Chen Dong, senior director

Management of
the Competing
Business

For the FY2021, since YTO Express Group’s main focus was
warehousing and distribution of goods through express and
courier service in the PRC and apart from intra-group freight
forwarding services among YTO Express Group members,
YTO Express Group did not carry out any freight forwarding
services to and/or business with external parties, the Directors
considered that, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm’s length, from the
Competing Business and the operations of YTO Express Group
did not affect the Group’s business.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEHE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Shares during the FY2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2021. As at the date of this annual report,
the Group was not involved in any current material legal
proceeding, nor was the Group aware of any pending or
potential material legal proceedings involving the Group. If
the Group was involved in such material legal proceedings,
the Group would record any loss contingencies when, based
on information then available, it is probable that a loss has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the FY2021, less than 30% of the Group’s cost of
sales were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate.

The percentage of revenue of the Group attributable to the
largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
are 18.0% and 32.0% respectively. Hangzhou Cainiao Supply
Chain Management Co., Limited, being one of the Group’s
five largest customers, is a subsidiary of Alibaba Group
Holding Limited, which is indirectly interested in more than
5% of the issued Shares.

Shanghai Yuantong International Cargo Freight Agent Co.,
Ltd.* EBEREIREYEHRIEHR A A, being one of the
Group's five largest customers, is a wholly owned subsidiary
of YTO Express. YTO Express is a controlling Shareholder
interested in more than 5% of the issued Shares, and also a
company owned as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which
in turn is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a
non-executive Director and a controlling Shareholder) and
49% by his spouse.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the number of Company’s issued
shares) had an interest in the five major customers of the
Group. Close associate refers to the close associate of the
Director not the Shareholder.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly and
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management
of the Group are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board.

Our remuneration policy is based on the principles of
aligning remuneration outcomes with our strategy, and
encouraging strong delivery by employees by differentiating
top performers. The employees’ total compensation consists
of fixed pay including salary and allowances and discretionary
variable remuneration. It is determined on the basis of their
role and responsibilities, performance and contributions and
market dynamics.

The Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants, including the employees of
the Group, for their contribution to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors is determined with reference
to their expertise and experience in the industry, the
performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the
Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 6 June 2022 to Thursday, 9 June 2022 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to attend
and vote at the forthcoming AGM. In order to be qualified for
attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, unregistered
holders of Shares should ensure that all share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates
are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on
Thursday, 2 June 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (continued)

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the proposed final dividend at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will also be
closed from Monday, 20 June 2022 to Wednesday, 22 June
2022 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining
the entitlement to the proposed final dividend in respect of
the FY2021. In order to be qualified for the proposed final
dividend (subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM), unregistered holders of Shares should
ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied by
the corresponding share certificates are lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at the address stated
above for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Friday, 17 June 2022.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2021, the Group made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of about HK$13,000 (FY2020: about
HK$84,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2021, being the end of the Report Period
to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint Messrs. KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On 6 August 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned
as auditors of the Company and KPMG were appointed
by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy. Save for the
aforementioned, there has been no other change of auditors
in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in maintaining its corporate transparency and
accountability. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange during the FY2021. The Board considers that
during the FY2021, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company are summarized
below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control
and management of the Company and oversees
the Group’s business, strategic decision and
performances in the attainment of the objective
of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All
the Directors carry out their duties in good faith,
take decisions objectively and act in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management,
with a view to ensuring compliance with
Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any Director may request for
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation (continued)

The Executive Committee and senior management
of the Company are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-
to-day management and operation of the
Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the above-
mentioned officers. The Board has the full support
of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.

A2. Board Composition

The composition of the Board for the FY2021 and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Huang Yifeng  (President and Chairman of
the Corporate Governance
Committee)

Mr. Sun Jian (Chief Executive Officer)

(Note 1)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman of the Board,
Chairman of the
Nomination Committee
and Member of the
Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Pan Shuimiao

Mr. Li Xianjun
(Note 2)
Mr. Lin Kai (Former Member of the Audit
(Note 3) Committee)
Mr. Chen Dong (Member of the Audit
(Note 4) Committee)
Mr. Yang Xinwei
(Note 5)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A.

66

The Board (continued)

A2.

Board Composition (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui (Member of the Audit
Committee, the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

(Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
and Member of the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

(Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Member of
the Remuneration
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

Mr. Xu Junmin

Mr. Chung Kwok
Mo John

Note 1: With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Sun Jian was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

Note 2: With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Li Xianjun
ceased to act as a non-executive Director of the
Company.

Note 3: With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Lin Kai
ceased to act as a non-executive Director and
Member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Note 4. With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Chen Dong
was appointed as a non-executive Director and
Member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Note 5. With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Yang Xinwei
was appointed as a non-executive Director of the

Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A2.

Board Composition (continued)

Throughout the FY2021, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of having a minimum of three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and
experience appropriate for the business
requirements and objectives of the Group. Each
executive Director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group
in accordance with his/her expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring
different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the
Board committees of the Company. Through
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of
interests, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction
of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both
the Group and the Shareholders.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors and senior management have no
financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with one another.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A.

68

The Board (continued)

A3.

A4,

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer are held by
separate persons in order to ensure a balance
of power and authority and preserve a balanced
judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yu Huijiao
takes up the role of chairman of the Board and is
providing leadership and being responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board,
whereas Mr. Sun Jian is the chief executive officer
of the Company, focusing on the Company’'s
business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term.
Mr. Huang Yifeng has been appointed as an
executive Director for an initial fixed term
of one year commencing from 21 January
2020 renewable automatically for successive
terms of one year each commencing from the
day immediately after the expiry of the then
current term of appointment, until terminated
as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three
months’ written notice served by either party
expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A4.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Sun Jian has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 31 March 2021 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.

Mr. Li Xianjun (a non-executive Director) was
engaged on a service contract for a term of one
year and shall be automatically renewable for
successive terms of one year each commencing
from the next day after the expiry of the current
term unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either the
Company or himself.

Mr. Yang Xinwei has been appointed as a non-
executive Director for an initial fixed term of one
year commencing from 31 March 2022 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as a non-
executive Director by the Company for an initial
term of one year commencing from 21 January
2020, which shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until
terminated by not less than three month’s written
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Pan
Shuimiao expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A.

70

The Board (continued)

A4.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Chen Dong and each of
the independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of one year and shall be
automatically renewable for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the current term unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the Company or the
Director.

According to the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation at each AGM provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The retiring Directors
should be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM. In addition, any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his/her appointment, whereas
any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM. The Director
appointed by the Board as aforesaid shall be
eligible for re-election at the relevant general
meeting.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Huang Yifeng,
Mr. Pan Shuimiao, Mr. Yang Xinwei and Mr. Li
Donghui shall retire by rotation pursuant to the
Articles. All of the above retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee
recommended their re-appointment. The circular
of the Company, sent together with this report,
contains detailed information of the said Directors
as required by the Listing Rules.
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A. The Board (continued)

A5S.

Training and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive
formal induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

Under the CG Code, Directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Directors are continually updated
with legal and regulatory developments, and
the business and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. Trainings
and professional development for Directors are
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading
material on new or changes to salient laws and
regulations applicable to the Group are provided
to Directors from time to time for their studying
and reference.

The Directors are required to submit to the
Company details of the training they received
in each financial year for the Company's
maintenance of proper training records of the
Directors. During the FY2021, all the Directors
were provided with reading materials or regulatory
update on corporate governance matters and
responsibilities of the Directors for their reference
and perusal. Besides, Mr. Huang Yifeng, Mr. Sun
Jian, Mr. Li Xianjun, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Pan
Shuimiao, Mr. Chen Dong, Mr. Lin Kai, Mr. Li
Donghui, Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok
Mo John attended other seminars and training
sessions arranged by other professional firms/
institutions.
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A.

72

The Board (continued)

A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

i

A.

"

ERER @®

BEEg (®)
A6. EESERHERR

The attendance records of each Director at the
Board and Board committee meetings and the

RIZB-_—FHRFEARN TE
%ij$ AEEg &%%A

general meetings of the Company held during the ZEgeaUERRERELEH
FY2021 are set out below: AW
Attendance/Number of Meetings (Note 3)
LEER/GHRE (K5
Corporate Annual

Governance General  Extraordinary

Audit  Remuneration  Nomination Committee Meeting General

Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee LEER hREE Meeting

Name of Director f 32 #5¢  EnZEE  HHEEE  R4ZEe ZE% € BREMNAE

Executive Directors: #Ez:

Mr. Huang Yifeng ERELE 505 WA T &R N/A TER NA T iE R mn n 20

Mr. Sun Jian (Vote 1) BRRE (W) 44 VA TiER VA TiER NATER VA TiER 1n 20

Non-executive Directors: HHHEE:

M. Yo Huijao Y e 55 NATER n "o NATER 1 n

Mr. Pan Shuimiao é J@éﬂ 55 NATER  NATER  NAMER NATER i 0

Mr. Li Xianjun 5/5 NA FEF N/A TER NA T iE R VA TiER 1n 20

Mr. Lin Kai (Vote 2) mn 1n VA TiER NATiER VA TiER NATER VA TiER

Mr. Chen Dong (Note 3) 44 0 NA TER N/A F iR NA R i 0

M. Yang Xinwei (Vote 4) NA A NA M EH NA A NA M EF NA M H NIA TR NA R

Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHEE:

Mr. Li Donghui TRERE 505 33 NA A 1n mn n 20

Mr. Xu Junmin BRRRE 5/5 NA TR 20 1n on 1n 20

M. Chung Kok Mo John BAR G 55 33 0 NATEE 1" 1 0

Note 1. With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Sun Jian was M1 BZEZ—F=A=+— E
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief B RBELEEZEARALRR
Executive Officer of the Company. BITESRITHAE -

Note 2: With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Lin Kai was Wiz BZFE=Z—F=A=+—H
resigned as a non-executive Director and Member R ML B EAR R R
of the Audit Committee of the Company. TEERBEREZEEKE -

Note 3: With effect from 31 March 2021, Mr. Chen Dong Kiatz3: B -_F-_—%F=ZHA=+—8H
was appointed as a non-executive Director and BRETERZFAAR A
Member of the Audit Committee of the Company. FPTEERERZE SN

Note 4: With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Yang Xinwei Bt - BH#HBEEAER_T__F=A
was appointed as a non-executive Director. S+ RABZERFENTE

=)

Note 5: Represents the number of meeting of the Board M5 BR T —FHBFEH

and Board committees and general meetings held
during FY2021 or, for Directors appointed after
1 January 2021 or resigned during FY2021, during
the tenure of the relevant Director.
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(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A6.

A7.

A8.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
(continued)

In addition, the Chairman of the Board held one
meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the FY2021.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has devised its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ and employees’ dealings
in the Company’s securities (the “Securities
Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code. Each Director has been given a copy of the
Securities Dealing Code. Specific enquiry has been
made of all Directors and they have confirmed
their compliance with the Securities Dealing Code
throughout the FY2021. In addition, no incident
of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code
by the employees was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any
restricted period for dealings in the Company's
securities, the Company will notify its Directors
and relevant employees in advance.

Changes in Information of Directors

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is
no other change in the Directors’ information
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the
Listing Rules.

B. Board Committees

The Board has established five Board committees,
namely, the Executive Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’'s
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company’s website (except for the terms of reference
of the Executive Committee which are available to
Shareholders upon request). All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.
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74

Board Committees (continued)

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

B R
f B §2 af
> T S

W
-

B1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive
Directors and operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board
to increase the efficiency for the business decisions.
It monitors the execution of the Company's
strategic plans and operations of all business units
of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on
matters relating to the management and day-to-day
operations of the Company.

ot

B2. Remuneration Committee B2.

The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the FY2021 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Throughout the FY2021, the Company has
met the Listing Rule requirements of having
the majority of the Remuneration Committee
members being independent non-executive
Directors as well as having the Committee chaired
by an independent non-executive Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure and the remuneration packages of
Directors and members of senior management.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by the Board with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company
as well as market practice and conditions.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EEEZEE (@)
B2. Remuneration Committee (continued) B2. FMZES (@\)
During the FY2021, the Remuneration Committee R-—ZEZ *Eﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁrlﬁ = B

has held two meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section A6
above). The Remuneration Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

- General review and discussion of the
remuneration packages, policy and structure
of the directors and the senior staff of the
Group, and recommendation to the Board;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages
for the directors and members of senior
management;

- Consideration and review of the service
contracts of executive Director(s); and

- Consideration and recommendation of grant
of share award.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the FY2021 is set out

below:

Remuneration band (HK$) HENEE (EBT)
3,000,000-3,500,000 3,000,000% 3,500,000
1,000,000-1,499,999 1,000,000% 1,499,999
Less than 1,000,000 {£ 71,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director
for the FY2021 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this
report.
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Board Committees (continued)

B3.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee
during the FY2021 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman)
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of
the Company.
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B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

In selecting candidates for directorship of the
Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company's
needs, the diversity on the Board, the integrity,
experience, skills and professional knowledge of
the candidate and the amount of time and effort
that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment
professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.

For the nomination process of new Director, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the process yields one
or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable). The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by
a Shareholder for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.
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Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Company has adopted the director
nomination policy. Such policy, devising the
criteria and process of selection and performance
evaluation, provides guidance to the Board on
nomination and appointment of Directors. The
Board believes that the defined selection process
is good for corporate governance in ensuring
the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level, and enhancing better Board
effectiveness and diversity as well as in compliance
with the applicable rules and regulations.

The Company also recognises and embraces the
benefit of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. To comply
with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, a board
diversity policy was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is
responsible for monitoring the implementation
of the board diversity policy and assessing the
Board composition under diversified perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional
experience). The Nomination Committee shall
report its findings and make recommendations to
the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives will
be reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

During the FY2021,
has held one meeting (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Nomination Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

Nomination Committee (continued)

the Nomination Committee

Review of the existing structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements
for the business of the Group;

Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the Company's AGM held on
10 June 2027,

Assessment of the independence of the three
independent non-executive Directors; and

Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the appointment of directors.

The measurable objectives for implementing the
board diversity policy are as follows:

At least 40% of the Board members to be
aged below 55;

At least 50% of the Board members to hold
a master’s degree;

At least 40% of the Board members to
possess professional qualifications in legal or
accounting field; and

At least 20% of the Board members to have
business experience in freight forwarding
and international express industry.

The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained during the FY2021.
on the review by the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee considers that the
Company has achieved the measurable objectives
set for implementing the board diversity policy for
the FY2021.

Based
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B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE€2ZES

B4. Audit Committee B4. ERZEE

The members of the Audit Committee during the
FY2021 were as follows:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lin Kai (Resigned as a member on 31 March
2021)

Mr. Chen Dong (Appointed as a member on
371 March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman)
Mr. Li Donghui

The Company has met the Listing Rules
requirements regarding the composition of the
Audit Committee throughout the FY2021. The
majority of the Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John possesses the appropriate
professional qualification, and accounting and
financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a
former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are
reviewing the financial information and reports
of the Group and considering any significant or
unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission
to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor
and making the relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES H¥EARER @)

(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EEEZEE (@)
B4. Audit Committee (continued) B4. BEXRZEEE (@A)
During the FY2021, the Audit Committee has RZE - —FUHBFERN BZ
held three meetings (the attendance records of ZEEeRTBE-ZNZE(ZEE
each Committee member are set out in section R E N EREEHN £EXA6—
A6 above). The Audit Committee performed the ) BREEERFAZLEIE
following major works during the year: THERT:

Reviewed the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and made
recommendation of the re-appointment of
the external auditor;

Reviewed and discussed the annual financial
statements, results announcement and
annual report for the FY2020, the relevant
audit findings of the Company's external
auditor;

Reviewed and discussed the interim financial
statements, results announcement and
interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2021 and the relevant review
findings of the Company’s external auditor;
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Reviewed the reports prepared by an HENNEBERYERAEER
external adviser on the Group's internal B & %ﬂfﬁﬁqﬁ'ﬁ&i&
control matters, and reviewed the existing ERAEERAENER

risk management and internal control B RN EE ?%‘JF‘E'%E

systems of the Group, and review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function
of the Company;

RABIREERBENE
B

Reviewed the Group’s continuing connected ERAEER-_Z_ZFF
transactions for the FY2020 as well as the ﬁﬁﬁﬁif&_gi—i,ﬁ?f
FY2021 and the revision of annual caps of HEENFEAERH U
the continuing connected transactions; )Sﬂi L Fﬁ%@ﬁ? SEE LR
Reviewed certain material litigation and EHETHAEENERX

possible related claims against the Group;

Reviewed and approved the audit plan of
the Company’s external auditor, including
the nature and scope of audit, remuneration
and terms of engagement in respect of the

audit on the financial statements for the g - 5N & BB R R
FY2021; and X /
. 4
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Board Committees (continued) B.

B4. Audit Committee (continued) B4.

- Reviewed the arrangements for employees
of the Group to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in the Group's
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters and the investigation process on the
reported cases.

The external auditor has attended the above three
meetings and discussed with the Audit Committee
members on issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the appointment of external
auditor.

B5. Corporate Governance Committee B5.

The members of the Corporate Governance
Committee during the FY2021 and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Director:

Mr. Huang Yifeng (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui

Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

TEERER @

EE2XEE (@)

EREEE ()

- EHIAKEEBEHASK
B B R N ED B K
HtEEARFEZTE
TREHBEEINZHEAR

i
§
“&%

B

FRABREBANAER
2o
%%V@% 28 Pt =k
ZUVHEZZESKENHKE
BEZLVERESETAME-
N EECHBEZZEGRE
T EZEAMEES R ol
TEEREES
RZEZ—FYHRFERESRE
AFERE CEERLTEGY
KEWT :
HITEE:
BRE LY (TE)
BUHHTESE:
THBELE
REBERLE
EER LA



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)

B5.

Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

The Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Group, including
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the
Securities Dealing Code; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Corporate Governance Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the Group's process of
disclosure, including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside information and
determining the form and content of any required
disclosure; and reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy adopted by the Company.

During the FY2021, the Corporate Governance
Committee has held one meeting (the attendance
records of each Committee member are set out
in section A6 above). The Corporate Governance
Committee performed the following major works
during the year:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

- Reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
senior management;

- Reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities
Dealing Code;
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Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the Company’'s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report;

- Reviewed the Group's process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside
information and determined the form and
content of certain required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the FY2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements. Management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board
as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of
the Group put forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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D.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems as well as the internal audit function
of the Company on an annual basis through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including air freight, sea freight,
trade lane, corporate management, human resources,
finance and information technology. Self-evaluation
has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.
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D.

86

Risk Management and Internal Controls
(continued)

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Management,
in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress.
Management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the FY2021.

The Company has engaged an external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit function examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material
controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

During the FY2021, the Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee as well as the report from
management and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed a policy for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy provides
a general guide to the Company's Directors, officers and
relevant employees in handling confidential information
and monitoring information disclosure.
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E.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Ms. Wong Pui Wah, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the
Listing Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Wong Pui
Wah are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
During the FY2021, Ms. Wong has taken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

External Auditor and Auditor’'s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the Company's
financial statements for the FY2021 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” in this
report.

The fees paid/payable to KPMG, the Company’s auditor,
and to auditors other than KPMG for the Company's
subsidiaries, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the FY2021 are analysed below:

Type of services provided
by the external auditor
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Fees paid/payable

Audit services — audit fee to KPMG
for the Company and a subsidiary
for the FY2021

Audit services — audit fee to auditors
other than KPMG for the
Company's subsidiaries for the FY2021

Non-audit services by KPMG

— review of interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2021

— review of continuing connected
transactions for the FY2021

— review of annual results announcement
for the FY2021

TOTAL:
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88

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company believes that effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investors’ understanding of the Group's
business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognizes the importance of transparent and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decision.

The Company has in place a shareholders’
communication policy to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at
www.ytoglobal.com as a communication platform with
its Shareholders and investors, where information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations and other information are available for public
access. Shareholders and investors of the Company may
send written enquiries or requests to the Company via
the following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary

Address: Suite 2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong

Email: tiffany.wong@chg.ontime-express.com

Tel: (852) 2998 4626

Fax: (852) 3586 7681

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the
Company in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Board members and senior staff will be
available to answer questions raised by the Shareholders
at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the
Company will invite representatives of the auditor to
attend its AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence, if any.
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H.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company
“www.ytoglobal.com” and the Stock Exchange after
each Shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law or the Articles. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

With respect to the Shareholders’ right in proposing
persons for election as Directors, please refer to the
procedures available on the website of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

During the FY2021, the Company has not made any
changes to the Articles. An up-to-date version of the
Articles is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to the
Articles for further details of the rights of Shareholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % A R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YTO EXPRESS
(INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited (“the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 96 to
248, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER HEETEE

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional FRBIHFEFTEEARE AN ZEEMITH EHEEH
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the I RABWANHARELGLAMBEHRERNET &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This A E B E1E - 3% E 18 P A% A 1785t
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the F¥EGAVBRELATEELBEE M
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming AT EHZEHEHBYNER -
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

EZRURENEMCEEBERE

Refer to note 41(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 132 to 138.
FLRGRAMBREM IO REI132E138EMHETHR -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit
BRETEE AREMTHETNNEESREE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gross trade receivables  Our audit procedures to assess the expected
amounted to HK$1,225 million, against which an allowance credit loss allowance for trade receivables
for expected credit losses of HK$13 million was recorded. included the following:
RIB-_—F+-A=+—H  EEENEFERFEL FIRBMTHEZSEERENTEHREESR
BMAR1,225B880 EFETEHGEERERBI3EEETL RBEETIGHZEIEFEEUATAR:

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade receivables e obtaining an understanding of and
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, by assessing the design, implementation
applying estimated loss rates on trade receivables grouped and operating effectiveness of key
according to their shared credit risk characteristics. internal controls relating to credit
Management assesses the expected credit loss allowance control and estimation of expected
for credit-impaired trade receivables individually based credit losses;

on observable data about occurrence of events that have e THRYFGHEEEZRHREREES
a detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows from B4 FH AR B A B B A BRI e SR AT
the trade receivables. For the remaining balance of trade B RBERRE:

receivables, the expected credit loss allowance is assessed
collectively using the provision matrix. The estimated loss

evaluating the Group’'s policy for

rates in the provision matrix take into account the ageing estimating the credit loss allowance
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the with reference to the requirements of
Group’s customers, current market conditions, and forward- the prevailing accounting standard;
looking information. . 2RETEFENER FH &
EEEREEARBARAGERREEETIENESE I B EREEBERENER:

RENGEGFEERER RE>MEREEEERSNERTE
BIRURENTEREERRE - EEEREAAELHES

assessing whether items in the trade

ERRIBERELANGEARERERE INZENSHHATE receivables ageing reports were
RYF EBRFTHEREERENESERRENTEREE categorised in the appropriate ageing
EEEE - EIRBFBENBRTEASRNS  BHEEBIER brackets by testing the completeness
HEAREEEE—TH - BEETENGBFEEXEEESH and accuracy of the ageing reports
ERFIBEKRNER EEBEEFERGH  RITHRRA generated by the financial reporting
BE 1 & Ko system; and

o EBAAMBME R LEKMNRE R
& H)SE B R B AT (5 E 5 R K
ERRBEANNER SR REERER
BRIFADE K

R BERE(BR)ERERAF N




mﬂﬂﬂ

R

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BT R S

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)
The Key Audit Matter
BRETSE

We identified the expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which are inherently
subjective.
$ﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ%f%Aﬁmﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ
B FRE DARETERREBEKRKTEREREELERA
%&ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%&ﬁﬁ$%i%£ﬁo

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

HEETEE (#

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AZEMTHETNNEEEREE

o assessing the appropriateness
of management’'s estimates of
expected credit loss by examining the
information used by management
to derive such estimates, including
identification of credit impaired trade
receivables, segmentation of trade
receivables, testing the accuracy of
the historical credit loss data, and
evaluating whether the historical loss
rates have reflected current economic
conditions and forward-looking
information.

e RATLTEREERNEAEBMEEH
ﬁﬂ-@%%ﬂﬁﬁ:ﬁﬂ@mﬁ%
JEWRIE - B F W IE S 1R ORIBE
EFE%E%ﬁmﬁ%E&%ﬁﬁi
%ETED&%TEH%ﬁ%%&?

W 1E 1= M%ﬁEﬁFﬁ%Zf
Eﬁ%m B
BR &R & B 75 3R 3R e A% BUAD 3R & B S0
E e

EEAHEMENAE -RMENBESF
BAMBH2HER HEHEE %%ﬁ%&
AR AZ BURD 1T B0 EL R A 1 BT R 5 BR AP o

AZBETHEAMBERROBRLL T
EEMER ARBETAIIHZFEM
BRBERETAFANRESR

MAZBEITHEE VB RROFT K
ZBEITHEEDAMEMER  E LB
Bh ZEHEMEBENAGAMFERRAA
CHETERFTBRETAAENERARS
FEEAEBRBBUFTESARERRL -

ERAZBRMITCATHIH WMAKHK
TR REMERFEE RERRML K
REMTHERTZEE AR BETH
S AL FIRARE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B RS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

“EFR BEERE(BR)ERERAA

EERAAMBRRARENER

EXERBERBEBEGHAMASHEMNE
B BREERREE QRGO ER
ERBEBEMAFOSEAMBERER LY
EER/RERAVBREINERIFE
F 70 RRRF S 88 AR T 8 BUEY B K 5R RR PR A A

FHANBEZERAR -

EREGaMBEHRERE EXRENE &
SEBELENRE N A EBEBRIBFRT K
BEEFBELEAHENTR URERFE
REDSER KRIEEHEH E5HE
BRAFLEEE XFEEGERNE AR

FE-

ERZEeBPEEETEE
MEREBENEE-

BEREM
RYMR BT RSV BHRRAERRE
HEE

AZBETHERDHEEA M BRI ER
EE T FEARKRFAFERMEFNERKN
i RAMBFEIERE L HAEBREAZ
BEITERMZAEN RS - AN EHER
AT ((EREE)ME MRt 2NN E 5
BEHMBEN BRMARTRARENRAR Y
EHEMATRERAEEEZRE

EEREBRASKFIHNRE BETRERER
REBZAENETHET HBERRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BT R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

94

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

2
Y]

MM B REMBRRARIE
1 (|)

ERIRBEEERBERNETEF AP —1A
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BBl Ko FF Al B A BRF KR AR 1T B BAR
EFBmMRFEE AR RBE AL -
Rt MATEAEFARYZFAR -
AREBMFERMEENENRE F
RAZBEITE R WER - BN GF
AR RER BE EBER ER
Rt - A BN AREZE 2 £ Bt
REEBBEEAMFEMEBHIRENFHR
R AR &SN REERRERME
BHBREABRBUL AR -

A At AR M M BB ES 4T - DA SRE
ERBBATBEENENEF 2
B IEY SEEAMEENEX
HBEXRER -

AEESEARASERRNEE TN
MIEhgHAFT LB REN S IEMKE -

LHEERAKELEZSHEROE
BMEHSR WARRTEEROEG
B MEEAGFERFHELBAA
BB A THEE M WA S Y
ERBENFELERNELETARE -
A ZBEN TR S FEERTHEE M -
QB EERBERETIRAERE
EIEEEMBRRPOMEEEE R
FEROWETRE  ANERT A& B
THEBER AZBMITNERIER
HERZHEBE R LAARBHERAR
EeAM  ARERSLNFI AL E B
BEEETREFELCEEK-

A B RRNEBRIIERA
BEMART (BREESEHE) Uk
EMBBRRREATFTRBEERS M
FH-

YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= A2 S

mEBRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE-_ZSE-—F+=-—A=+—HILEE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other income

Administrative expenses
Net impairment loss reversed/(recognised)
under expected credit loss model

Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Other gains or losses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before taxation

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents)

Basic

Diluted

Notes
Kt

I = 56
$HE A
EF
E g A 7
THHEX
FEHEEBEERTEDN
J(HERE) BB KB

F R 11
2R B B 1B 18
mEEERMBEBIE 19
EMSmsEiE 8
JE(RE N R EE
EBihEEDEEE
B & K AN 9
B 5 Bl g A
FrisfiAx 10
F X% F 11
AR & I8 B 1h F s F -
KARIERRR

JEE R =
FRrRAEF B

HAR 14
B 14

The notes on pages 105 to 248 form part of these
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the

year are set out in note 13.

2021 2020
e Nl — =<7
LIl HK$ 000
FET FET
7,556,427 5,048,113
(6,763,586) (4,275,497)
792,841 772,616
17,124 30,150
(460,248)  (484,628)
49 (8,773)
(15,632) -
(464) -
(6,644) (19,732)
34 82

1,035 1,268
(4,171) (4,889)
323,924 286,094
(45,681) (30,221)
278,243 255,873
273,377 252,231
4,866 3,642
278,243 255,873
65.76 60.84
65.47 60.48

SE105FE 248 B WM iE M Ak 7% & B 5 R 19
—#8D o B BE A i A G B AN R Rl 2

f& AL B R IE A KT FE13 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOM
GeEEkEMEEBRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE-B-—FT-A=t-RAL%FE

2021 2020
- Sl T OTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
it FE T FET
Profit for the year F R 278,243 255,873
Other comprehensive income FREME2EKE
for the year (after tax and (MR TIE K&
reclassification adjustments) B HBFEIER)
Items that will not be reclassified to HTrEEFSIEE
profit or loss B A9E H
Surplus on revaluation of HEITHREFEHRES
leasehold land and buildings 741 527
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of HETHWREFERESE
leasehold land and buildings B 3 AT 7% 18 37 (38) 14
Items that may be reclassified subsequently B 1% 7] 5¢ & E # » $52
to profit or loss Az A9E H
Share of other comprehensive income of  FE/REE & X 7] H b 2w U 25
associates (36) 226
Share of other comprehensive income of JE{E& & H 2wk
joint ventures (749) 798
Exchange difference arising from INETEEAEMWIE K E
foreign operations (16,165) 7,707
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal 7t &K B A A1 HY
of subsidiaries BENOEAE - 87
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 A E b % @ Uk 25 (16,247) 9,359
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 MW A 2% 261,996 265,232
Attributable to: AT & IEJE1S -
Equity shareholders of the Company ZN/NSIE - F5Yi 31 258,209 261,134
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A 3,787 4,098
Total comprehensive income for the year & A2 U5 42 %8 261,996 265,232

The notes on pages 105 to 248 form part of these financial S 105F248BE MW EER %X FH B HEN

statements. — & e //
Y
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB AR R R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Contract assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Debt investment at amortised cost

Finance lease receivables

Amount due from an intermediate holding

company
Amount due from immediate holding
company
Amount due from a joint venture
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Prepaid tax
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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REME

ME BERRE
EHEEE

kS

BIVEE
NN R0k
REZEENER
B IAEE

RBEE
B 7 MR

HEWEHR e Rk

BN KR
BHEE

WA FEFABEN

TREE

HEEK AT ENERRE

BEMRE R MR

U — 5K R 4% IR 2 A SRR
FE U B A I A A BRR

B —HKEERERA

FECES A5 2 B 2R

& U [R] 3 P /B8 12 R 3R IR

B IR
EHEMRITER
RITEHR IR R

nREBAE

B 5 N H Al A 58

BHaRE
AR NI/

F& 1< B X BfY /B8 & R 5R0R

BIBERIE

HERE

RITERK
REBEEFE
EERERABRE

Notes

Kt

15
16
17
18
19
20
21

37(b)

23

23
24

25
26
22

27
29
28
27
37(a)
30
31

32
33
28
27
37(a)
34
35

2021 2020
—E - —F e
HK$000 HK$°000
FETT FE T
6,745 6,593
57,574 54,779
144,257 140,888
542 16,188
3,382 7,505
3,210 15,066
10,072 9,786
809 2,706
226,591 253,511
1,212,370 772,812
115,483 81,689
117,092 46,046
3,939 896
7,069 7,463

= 8,388

= 2

119 =
9,693 4,102
16,463 12,548
18,109 =
3,825 2,422
10,768 7,633
567,828 491,932
2,082,758 1,435,933
787,933 556,239
48,481 36,043
914 1,172
132,380 35,854
40,041 10,957
42,770 44,066
5,370 1,067
1,057,889 685,398
1,024,869 750,535
1,251,460 1,004,046




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI E

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

RZEZ—F+=ZHA=+—H

2021 2020
e Nl — =<7
Notes HKS$’000 HK$°000
B &t FE T FET

Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Other payables b &N 5R0R 32 3,318 3,889
Lease liabilities HEBR 34 116,940 121,371
Deferred tax liabilities RERIAEE 37(b) 14,666 13,649
134,924 138,909
1,116,536 865,137

Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital fi& 2 38 42,019 41,676
Reserves s 1,060,246 815,727

Total equity attributable to RAFERERREGERS

equity shareholders of the Company Rk 1,102,265 857,403
Non-controlling interests JEPTE R = 14,271 7,734
Total equity MR 1,116,536 865,137

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors BER-E-—F#=A=+—HHEFgK

on 31 March 2022: RIS REFIE
Mr. Huang Yifeng Mr. Sun Jian
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

The notes on pages 105 to 248 form part of these financial F105E248E MM EBKZ ZE M B MK A

statements. —FH e //
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GREERBEF R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE-_Z-_—+-_A=+—RHILtEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FNARBRFEL

Share Property
Share Share  Treasury Capital Special awards Translation  Statutory revaluation  Retained
capital  premium stock reserve reserve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve profits  Sub-total

R E% LS : Ex EE R
B& i R L f : i L1 f - Nt
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS0OD  KKSO00  HKSO00  KKSU00  HKSO00  HKS00O  HKS000
FEr T &z FEr & FEr i FEr TEr 77 7z

At 1 January 2021 41,676 429238 (6,563)  (22681)  (295411) 9832 (35923 17,703 12333 707,19 857403
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - w3 man

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold ~ BE T RETEH RS

land and buildings - - - - - - - - 14 - ™
Deferred tax arising on revaluation

of leasehold land and buildings - - - - - - - - (38) - (38)
Share of other comprehensive

income of associates - - - - - - (36) - - - (36)
Share of other comprehensive

income of joint ventures - - - - - - (749) - - - (749)
Exchange difference arising from BHERELOESZE

foreign operations - - - - - - (15,086) - - - (15,086)
Total comprehensive income FREERALE

for the year - - - - - - (15.871) - 103 213311 258,209
Recognition of equity-settled BEAREEE 2R R

share-based payment (note 45) { - - - - - 8,645 - - - - 8,645
Issue of shares upon exercise of

equity-settled share-based

payment (notes 38 and 45) 3 11,864 - - - (8,777) - - - - 3,430

Step acquisition of a subsidiary
(note 39)

Dividends paid to shareholders
(note 13)

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - - - -

Transfer to statutory reserve - - - - - - - (1,788) - 1,788 -

- = - - = - - = - (5 (5

At 31 December 2021

42,019 441,102 (6,563) (22,681)  (295411) 9,700 (51,794) 15,915 13,036 956,942 1,102,265

Non-
controlling
interests
FER

| &1

HKS 000
i

1,734
4,866

(1,079)

3,781

4,515

(1,765)

1421

Total
@it
HKS000
7

865,137
278,243

2]
(38)
(36)

(749)

(16,165)

261,99

8,645

3,430
4515
(25422)

(1765)

1,116,536
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEZSBX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE_ - F+-_A=+—HLEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Non-

controlling

interests
FER
HKS 000
T

6,508
3,642

Total
a5

HKS 000
TEL

597,13
255,873

521

14
226
798

1,707

ARARERRER
Share Property
Share Share Treasury Capital Special awards  Translation  Statutory  revaluation Retained
capital premium stock reserve reserve reserve reserve feserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total
i E% v BE RRAED EX EE DEEHR RB
e HE b L B & R R B bl Nt
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS00  HKS000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
T TEr T T FEr & T FEr A TiEr T
(Note 38(6) (Note 38(c)
(Hit3s)) (W#380)
At 1 January 2020 R=F-%%-A-A 41,676 429,238 (6,563) (22,681)  (295411) - (44,285) 17401 1,79 459,438 590,605
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - - - /3 25,231
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold ~ BE T RETEH RS
and and buildings - - - - - - - - 527 - 527
Deferred tax arising on revaluation ~ BE M REFEHEELR
of leasehold land and buildings BEHE - - - - - - - - 14 - 14
Share of other comprehensive EEBELTLBRERE
income of associates - - - - - - 26 - - - 226
Share of other comprehensive EERE0EEBR ARG
income of joint ventures - - - - - - 798 - - - 798
Exchange difference arising from BIEBEENELEE
foreign operations - - - - - - 7251 - - - 7251
Reclassification adjustment upon REERBRR KN
disposal of subsidiaries ENEHE - - - - - - 87 - - - 87
Total comprehensive income FREAARAEE
for the year - - - - - - 8,362 - 541 252,231 261,134
Recognition of equity-settled BANREEE 2R A
share-based payment (note 45) EROMZ(Haas) - - - - - 9832 - - - = 9,832
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBLRA - - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends paid to shareholders ARRERRE (Hi#13)
(note 13) - - - - - - - - - (4,168) (4,168)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRATETHE - - - - = = = 30 = (302) o
At 31 December 2020 R-E-E§+-A=1-H 41,676 429,238 (6,563) (22,681)  (295411) 9,832 (35,923) 17,703 12333 707,199 857,403

The notes on pages 105
statements.

to 248 form part of these financial
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERTRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BHE_ZT-_—F+-A=T—HILFE

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest revenue
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Loss on early termination of
lease contracts
Net impairment loss (reversed)/
recognised under expected
credit loss model
Loss on remeasurement of
investment in an associate
Fair value changes of financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value remeasurement of associate
upon step acquisition
Gain on bargain purchase
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Equity-settled share-based payment

Fair value changes of investment
properties

Write back of long outstanding
payables

COVID-19 related rent concessions
received

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in contract assets

Increase in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

(Increase) decrease in amounts due
from a joint venture

Increase in amounts due
from associates

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase in contract liabilities
Decrease in amounts due to associates
Increase in amounts due to

fellow subsidiaries

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities

102 YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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2021 2020

-k — T T4
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Kt FE T FET
323,924 286,094
7 (870) (1,489)
9 4,171 4,889
(34) (82)
(1,035) (1,268)

11 11,238 10,905
17 38,858 46,938
117 4,443 4,164
8 1 137
8 123 346
117 (49) 8,773
8 7,693 -
8 (5,079) 70
- (79)
117 - (752)
8 - (60)
17 15,632 -
117 464 -
8,645 9,832

8 49 297
7 (118) (1,861)
(236) (2,044)

407,820 364,810
(431,993) (205,090)
(71,046) (1,183)
(33,287) (24,221)

(7,538) 3,762
(4,566) (1,986)

218,424 157,151

12,437 29,579
(650) (487)

77,835 18,103

167,436 340,438
(14,924) (17,492)

152,512 322,946




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
mEHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

B2 -+ -_A=1+—HIt&E

2021 2020
e Nl — =<7
Notes HKS$’000 HK$°000
B &t F BT FHETT
Investing activities RETEE
Interest received B W 8 825 1,381
Net cash inflow on step acquisition of DR E—ENE AR
a subsidiary BIR &M AFEEE 3,771 -
Net cash inflow on acquisition of WEMBARMR®
subsidiaries MAFRR - 15,006
Net cash outflow on disposals of HEWNBERAIMNESRL
subsidiaries FEE - (2,690)
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  BE K&H
equipment (13,951) (17,589)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WERZED
plant and equipment Fr 1S 3018 183 130
Penalty from early RERIEHEESHIN
termination of lease contracts (119) (136)
Repayment from associates Bk & X &) B 3K 929 797
Repayment from (advance to) a —REEDEEN
joint venture (M—REEREBRK) 988 (631)
(Advance to) repayment from immediate (A & & #EA% A BRI BV F)
holding company BEEERARER (119) 1,245
Repayment from (advance to) intermediate A 4% i A A& 3
holding company (A EZERARER) 2 (2)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits BB ERIRITER - 12,868
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEHEEBIEITER (1,207) (127)
Repayment from a fellow subsidiary KE—RKAZRMEREH
'R - 42
Net cash inflow from financial assets BAFEFABERN
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMNHRESMAFE 1,327 -
Proceeds from debt investment REHK AT E D
at amortised cost BBIRE G HRIA 7,463 7,568
Investment in debt investment RERIBEHEK AT EW
at amortised cost BBRE (6,995) (7,384)
Repayment from finance lease receivables R B @& & & W 3R IE K
BN 8,410 12,295
Capital injection to an associate m—RHEERREE (378) (332)
Dividend from an associate —KEE N TR A = 1,619
Net cash generated from RETHFMBREEE
investing activities 1,129 24,060
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE_ - F+-_A=+—HLEFE

Financing activities

Increase in bank overdrafts

Advance from a joint venture

Advance from (repayment to) associates

Advance from a fellow subsidiary

Repayment of loan from
immediate holding company

Decrease in factoring loans

Interests paid

New bank loans obtained

Repayment of bank loans

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
the company

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Proceeds from issuance of shares
upon exercise of equity-settled
share-based payment

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

Analysis of the balances of cash and
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash

The notes on pages 105 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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2021 2020
—E - —F e

Notes HK$000 HK$°000
Kt FETT FE T
4,327 1,056

959 =

956 (733)

580 110

= (30,000)

- (42)

(4,171) (4,889)

31,784 70,529

(31,784) (101,052)

(1,765) =

(25,422) (4,168)

(46,887) (39,718)

3,430 =

(67,993) (108,907)

85,648 238,099

491,932 269,008

(9,752) (15,175)

567,828 491,932

567,828 491,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE—
1.

E-—F+-A=t—AILEE
GENERAL

YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2013
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 11 July 2014. The ultimate holding company of
the Company is Shanghai Yuantong Jiaolong Investment
Development (Group) Co., Ltd., a company incorporated
in the PRC. The intermediate holding company of
the Company is YTO Express Group Co., Ltd., a joint
stock limited liability company incorporated in the PRC
with its shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
The immediate holding company of the Company
is YTO Global Holdings Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong. With effect from
31 December 2021, the address of the registered office
of the Company was changed from Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands to Second Floor, Century Yard,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 92, Grand Cayman KY1-1103,
Cayman Islands and with effect from 16 December
2021, the address of the principal place of business of
the Company was changed from Suite 3610, 36th Floor,
Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong to Suite 2208, 22nd Floor,
Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of associates, joint ventures
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 48
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

2.

106

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed in note 3.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates
and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, certain property, plant and
equipment and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values or revalued amounts
as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

2.

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
B2 -+ -_A=1+—HIt&E

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

2.

108

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

J Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related
rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16,
the Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. Impacts of
the adoption of the amended HKFRSs are
discussed below:

2.

RELE % (@)

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
B2 -+ -_A=1+—HIt&E

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related
rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021
(continued)

The Group previously applied the practical
expedient in HKFRS 16 such that as lessee
it was not required to assess whether
rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
were lease modifications, if the eligibility
conditions are met. One of these conditions
requires the reduction in lease payments
affect only payments originally due on or
before a specified time limit. The 2021
amendment extends this time limit from
30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The Group has early adopted the 2021
amendment in this financial year. With
the extended time limit, certain rent
concessions that were previously ineligible
for the practical expedient because of
the original time limit, become eligible.
Accordingly, these rent concessions, which
were previously accounted for as lease
modifications, are now accounted for as
negative variable lease payments, and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers
those payments occurred.

In accordance with the transitional
requirements, the 2021 amendment has
been applied retrospectively, with the
cumulative effect of initial application
recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits at 1 January
2021.

There is no impact on the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2021. During the
year, the Group is entitled to COVID-19-
related rent concessions of HK$236,000
(2020: HK$2,044,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

3.

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’'s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in

accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;
o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-

based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If after reassessment, the net amount
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the noncontrolling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHEEX @
(continued)
Business combinations (continued) EF SR )

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed of directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less any accumulated impairment losses,
if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition
is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit, the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or
joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
its interest in that associate or joint venture (which
included any long-term interest that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in
associates or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allowed
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHEEX @
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers REFEFAHNKE (&)

(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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A contract liability represents the Group's obligation BHEBEEASERE TR KERAK
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which B(XREINPEK) MAEARETFE
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of EEMERBEHEE-

consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group
acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Except for management fee and information technology
("IT") service fee income, all revenue are derived from
the Group's ordinary course of business. Management
fee and IT service fee income are recognised over time
by the Group's performance as the Group performs and
included in other income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHEEX @

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and REETHREFNETRES
building (continued) ()

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value at the date
of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset. Depreciation on revalued land and building
is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or revalued amount of items of property, plant and
equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets
(continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual
cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The Group assesses
whether there is indication that corporate assets may
be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generation units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash generating unit or a group of cash-generation
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest revenue and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEE:HE @

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) 2RI A @\
Financial assets (continued) LREE (#)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial CHEESEREETE (B)

assets (continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest revenue (i)

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest revenue
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest revenue is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest revenue is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains or losses” line item.

—E_—FR BBER

B SH AN B B A

AB N B H 1R 5 5 X R AT
ENERMEEMNUEBERMNEZX
FER-MERAKE VWT%#
iﬂé?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ MEE IR
EZT@EW%MQF%
%(ﬁTX)/fE&E,;%ﬁ
ERENEREEMS  AEHK
ABEBEBRMERRE TEHRS
%iﬁ%iﬂﬁé%%&$ﬁ
Re-MEERESRIANGEE
EEE NEEREETHE
= ERE AR B WA B E
BETHBABEERER KE
BRA R BN E &S SR AER
NS RMEERKREERER -

BAFEAABENEREE

THARBEERATEREDN
TRMEE HEAFEFARR

e

BEAFHEFABENEREE
BEEREHRNATFEASZ
(ERCIN ﬂ?ﬁﬂﬁzﬁﬁkﬁéﬂéﬁéﬁﬁé
FHER - RIBE P R R S
BB e EZ /mﬁéﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁﬂ’x
MEREBSFE Wt ATH
mEEMEER] —H-

& (B ZERERA

N
\\

<



-

mﬂﬂﬂ

N

2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

132

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL"”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, rental
deposits, debt investment at amortised cost, amounts
due from immediate holding company, a joint venture,
associates, a related company and fellow subsidiaries,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and other
items (contract assets) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract
assets, trade receivables and trade balances due from
associates and a joint venture. To measure the ECL,
contract assets and trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics respectively.
In addition, trade receivables and contract assets with
significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed
for ECL individually. The ECL for trade balances due
from associates and a joint venture and finance lease
receivables are assessed individually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESEEE @)
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRIA @
Financial assets (continued) TREE (#)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) TREERE (&)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
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rating;
. significant deterioration in external market . EERBMINAET IS IEE

indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

—Ft+-A=+—BLFE

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHEBX@m
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA @
Financial assets (continued) TREE (#)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) TREERE (&)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets iy EEEREMNEREE

136

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
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borrower’s financial difficulty, having %"HE HmmAERALEE
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that RALEMBERATIAEE
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; BEER:

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for

(d) B AAS AT BEFE A TR 2 X
Hib M EH: X

() “ZETRMBEEMZBRMBSH

that financial asset because of financial B B IR 2 i B 2K o
difficulties.
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  HSHECER
The Group writes off a financial asset when there BERBETHFIERERE E7T 24
is information indicating that the counterparty B REER WD A AR (F

is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEEE @
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) @I A (@
Financial assets (continued) SREE (H)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) TEEERE (&)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. For a
finance lease receivable, the cash flows used
for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the finance lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

(v)
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Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or fix 78

cater for cases where evidence at the individual 2HDEER T EKEFER
instrument level may not yet be available, the WIFEEER - Ao g T AU
financial instruments are grouped on the following TEEFE:

basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets are assessed as a separate group.
Other receivables, rental deposits, amounts
due from related parties, debt investment
at amortised cost, finance lease receivables,
pledged bank deposits and bank balance are
assessed for ECL on an individual basis);

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest revenue is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest revenue is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, contract
assets, amounts due from related parties and
debt investment at amortised cost where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity instruments in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
loan from immediate holding company, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, associates and a related company
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost invoice amounts.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) held for trading; (ii) it is
designated as at FTVPL; or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(continued)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
nonoccurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

(i) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts
are measured at the present value of the lower of
the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of continuing with the contract.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRSs require or permit the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements

Share award plan

For grants of share awards that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
service received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares awards granted at the date of grant
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
awards reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements (continued)

Share award plan (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of share awards that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share awards reserve.

When share awards are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred
to share premium or treasury stock. When the share
awards are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs
to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs
that relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other
costs that are incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which
are not capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the
Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that
relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognised.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHBEE @
(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (@)

The Group as a lessee TEBEEREBAA

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
standalone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings, computer
equipment, furniture & fixture and motor vehicles
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;
o amounts expected to be payable by the Group

under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESTBE @)
(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (#®)

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBEEREABA (&)
Lease liabilities (continued) HEAE (&)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:
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amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESEEE @)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE ()

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEERBEEA (#)

Lease modifications (continued) HEE (&)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a W EAR BB IHENHEEE LM

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications,
and recognised the change in consideration as negative
variable lease payments in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
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finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of IKEHE - EHEBRRIGHBEE
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards HEREMTOR KIS R KRR

incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the
respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in
the leases. Interest revenue is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRMEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE_ - F+-_A=+—HLEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to a finance lease

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance
lease as a separate lease if both:

(a)

the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the Group accounts
for the modification as follows:

(a)

if the lease would have been classified as an
operating lease had the modification been in
effect at the inception date, the Group shall:

(i) account for the lease modification as a
new lease from the effective date of the
modification; and

(i)  measure the carrying amount of the
underlying asset as the net investment in
the lease immediately before the effective
date of the lease modification.

otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 9.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to an operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently
payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESEBUR (#)
(continued)
Taxation (continued) BIE (®)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiary and interests in associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognised.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate), if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate or a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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e MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEE:HE @

(continued)

Related parties (continued) B A (@)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) MMFFA THEMIEHE B2 EAR
following conditions applies: SEEH:

() The entity and the Group are members of () ZERBHEASEER %
the same group (which means that each KB AR (BEEAR
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is BB RAMERWB
related to the others). AR EE @) -

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture (il —XEBAS BB
of the other entity (or an associate or joint BRAlkEERE (KA
venture of a member of a group of which SEETKE R A @B
the other entity is a member). ARIHEERE TR —

ERbOLAEEETKER
GIDIE

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MREEHVAR—F=H
third party. Ba &b

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iv), " REBRE-FTEBH
and the other entity is an associate of the EEME ME—EBR
third entity. ZEZTEBHBEDR

EJ o

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ERBRASEZHEAREH
plan for the benefit of employees of either FHBNEBMRE IR
the Group or an entity related to the Group. RUMBERREFIGEE .

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (i) ZEBXZ—FG)H
by a person identified in (a). Bl 2 A o B 12 i) ok 2k B 4

i) o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) B—FH#RG@O#FANZ AL
influence over the entity or is a member of HZERBBEAZENK
the key management personnel of the entity ZATREZEEB(XZE
(or of a parent of the entity). ENSRAR)NEEEE

BB Z—-

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (viii) ZER HHMBAEEH
which it is a part, provides key management = 15 = B 1 N SR E T 0
personnel services to the Group or to the REBCHARRHEEE
Group's parent. EIRER -

Close members of the family of a person are those S—AATHERFEXNERIERH
family members who may be expected to influence, or ATHEHERBISR BHTFZEL
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the XRANTZENRBEXE -

entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE—

4.

E_—F+A=+—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount which is the
higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value
in use of the group of the cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from each group of cash-
generating units and a suitable discount rate and
growth rate in order to calculate the present value. The
Group developed appropriate inputs to the value in use
calculation and fully impaired the goodwill arising from
the acquisition of OTX Logistics B.V. and its subsidiaries
("OTX Logistics Holland Group”) at 31 December
2021. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount
of goodwill was HK$542,000 (2020: HK$16,188,000).
Details are disclosed in note 18.

“ECFHR BBRRE(H

BEETHERMET TABE
ENEBRRR @0

HEFTHABE RN ERRR

UTREAHARRSET MK F
ERAMEBEENABEREEAEREAXN
AEBENBREARN T ERRIALRE
EHMRNEF TAPEERNEMER
R o

AR RE

ETHE2EGREAGTTKE £
HERESEEmEMNBEeELEN
HRH A TFER DS/ AREK[FA
BEENESE EFEFREEE
AEBEERFSRESELEEMAR
EBHELANAKEERE WTUNES
MR ERERERGFEERE - R
B+ A=+—H X£EEH
AFEREETENTEE NHE AZK
WL W B OTX Logistics B.V. 2 &
FiB 2 A ([OTX Logistics Holland%k
J)F‘iﬁ’]?ﬁﬁit TREBE K=
T —F+-_A=+— El Fﬁéﬁzﬁﬁ
E@ A542,000 7T (= T F
16,188,000/ 70) - 18 EAMT*ys?)s‘z
E‘g‘.o

KOEBRBRA

N
\\

<



-

mﬂﬂﬂ

N

2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE—

4.

160

E_—F+A=+—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to HK$1,225 million, against
which an allowance for expected credit losses of HK$13
million was recorded.

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss, by applying estimated loss rates on
trade receivables grouped according to their shared
credit risk characteristics. Management assesses the
expected credit loss allowance for credit-impaired trade
receivables individually, and the expected credit loss
allowance for remaining balances is assessed using the
provision matrix collectively.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Information about ECL on the Group's trade receivables
is disclosed in note 41.

The Group's lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at
31 December 2021 amounted to HK$12,811,000 (2020:
HK$16,124,000).
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REVENUE

Revenue represents freight forwarding and related
services income which is recognised over time as
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs. The Group's revenue is recognised
using output method over the period of performance by
delivering a shipment from a place of origin to a place
of destination. The performance obligation is satisfied
upon delivery at destination. Details of disaggregation
of revenue are set out in note 6.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within
30 days. All services are for periods of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (i.e. the executive directors of the Company) in
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance.

Information reported to the Group's chief operating

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation

and assessment of performance is focused on five main

operations.

Air freight: this segment is related to freight
forwarding by air.

Ocean freight: this segment is related to freight

forwarding by seas.

Logistics: this segment is related to provision
of warehousing services.

International express this segment is related to provision

and parcel: of time-define international
express and parcel services.
Others: this segment is related to freight
forwarding by land and trucking
services.

iz
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
B2 -+ -_A=1+—HIt&E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Segment revenue and results

Operating and reportable segments 45 K 2 #9 58

6. DWER (@)

(a)

Segment revenue

2 W

2021
—BE--F

HK$'000

PEHKREREE
Segment results
PBEE
2020 2021 2020
ZECTE bl — T T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TAT TRET TAT
3,361,805 3,062,518 282,554 376,679
2,004,190 817,371 214,419 97,668

67,162 82,778 7,445 2,904
1,949,084 952,870 104,347 111,553

174,186 132,576 36,667 36,381
7,556,427 5,048,113 645,432 625,185

Air freight (note /) = (i)

Ocean freight (note j) & (Hiti)

Logistics (note ) Wi (Bati)

International express and BRRERBR
parcel (note fii) (Hitii)

Others (note iv) Hith (Witiv)

Total @Et

Other income Hg A

Impairment loss on goodwill HEREESE

Impairment loss on Intangible EMEERERSE
assets

Other gains or losses Hi5mdEE

Unallocated corporate expenses  AD B AAIFAX

Share of results of associates EEBEARER

Share of results of joint ventures ~ [E{EAEREEE

Finance costs BERA

Profit before taxation BRELADR I

(i) Revenue from freight services, including air freight

and ocean freight, is recognised over time upon the
performance obligation is satisfied.

(i) Revenue from logistic services is recognised over time
for warehousing services.

(iii) Revenue from international express and parcel
services is recognised over time for time-define
international express and parcel services.

(iv) Other services is recognised over time for land and
trucking services.

N
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)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

17,124 30,150
(15,632) =

(464) -
(6,644)  (19,732)
(312,790)  (345,970)

34 82
1,035 1,268
(4,.171) (4,889)

323,924 286,094

BEERB(BRZENRESE)K
M RERE DB TRBERE
R

YRR (SR R RS Wk &
THRE By ) R AR o

B B BRE K B B AR 75 (3t DA B
EENBERRERBRERE)H
Uz 5 75 BE B PR HE SR o

H At R 7% (FhREth 2 B BIE M AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE—

6.

E_—F+A=+—HLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as the Group's accounting
policies described in note 3. Reportable segment
results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of other income, other
gains or losses, share of results of associates,
share of results of joint ventures, unallocated
corporate expenses (including depreciation,
amortisation and impairment, etc.) and finance
costs.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating and reportable segments is disclosed as
it is not regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker for review.

Geographical information

The Group's revenue by geographical market
based on the location of operations:

B (Kt
BOM (A aZii)
SN (A i)
H A 35N [
(Btetiv)

The PRC (note i)

Europe (note ii)

Northern America (note iii)
Other Asian regions (note iv)

=

6.

pa

(a)

D EER (@)

2 EB W R R KA ()

oy BP0 & 5T BOR BT SE3 AT
ﬁt$/§. FAERRMER - 2, D
BB B R D AR IR BUE A 0 D
BRERAMBASE EME \*EJZ
B8 EMh ”**/‘T%F FE 15
BELERE KROBERARMX
(@%Tﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ@%)&

— —FR

BhE P AN o
(b) P HEEREE
HREEERERSHTHEHAE
BEERBGEMMEND I
TFHEEELBEBARERMEU
HEH WETBRETANE@AS
7o
(c) HEZEFR
AEBIZREEMEZ DN E
L e
Revenue from external customers
REIMBEF W
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
5,723,689 3,645,067
312,686 403,973
590,844 373,210
929,208 625,863
7,556,427 5,048,113
W p’
R R (B ERER A s

<
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
HE—ZE-—S+-A=+—RI1EE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

Information about the Group’s specified non-
current assets by geographical market based on
location of assets:

The PRC (note i)

Europe (note ii)

Northern America (note iii)
Other Asian regions (note iv)

Notes:

)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

164

B (A7 et )
BN (A7 et )
b3 (B atiii )
H bl E
(Haziv)

Included in the PRC segment are revenue from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$4,204,973,000 (2020:
HK$2,706,391,000) and non-current assets from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$62,863,000 (2020:
HK$64,091,000).

Europe segment includes revenue from the
Netherlands amounting to HK$312,686,000 (2020:
HK$392,509,000) and non-current assets from the
Netherlands amounting to HK$97,958,000 (2020:
HK$137,000,000).

Northern America segment includes revenue from
the United States of America (the “USA") amounting
to HK$590,844,000 (2020: HK$357,757,000) and
non-current assets from the USA amounting to
HK$28,612,000 (2020: HK$3,160,000).

Other Asian regions comprised countries which
generated revenue or with non-current assets that
is individually immaterial to the Group's revenue or
assets.

Specified non-current assets exclude interests in
associates, interests in joint ventures, deferred tax
assets and finance lease receivables.

6.

o EE E ()
() HEEH (&)

BRAASBEZEEMELE
MR MSNETIRRDEE

Ag

2021

— = —

—

HK$°000
TET

80,994

97

28,612

4,936

2020
— —ETF
HK$'000
FETT

81,374
137,000
3,160

958

4,419

212

,500 225,953
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

EB(GFARBESIB)HRE A
4,204,973,0008 L (ZFE =&
£ :2,706,391,000/7T) © M&
EHIIET A E /62,863,000
T (ZZEZZFF:64,091,000%
JT) °

M (GFABMD B MmkE A
312,686,000 0 (ZE_FF :
392,509,000/ 7T ) * 1M {1 38 A9 3F
B E E /97,958,000 7T (=
T — T4 137,000,000/ 7T) °

EFNBRERE([EH]) (5t A
1k 35 E6) KU 2% £590,844,000
BT (ZZ ZF 4 :357,757,000
BIL) 0 MEBNIERDEER
28,612,000 (ZE - T4 :
3,160,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
B2 -+ -_A=1+—HIt&E

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Information about major customers

Revenue arising from air freight, ocean freight
and logistics services of HK$1,361,124,000 (2020:
HK$595,458,000) arose from sales to the Group's
largest customer. No other single customers
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group for both 2020 and 2021. The percentage
of revenue of the Group attributable to the largest
customer is 18.0% (2020: 11.8%).

OTHER INCOME

Interest revenue on:

- bank deposits — RITHERX
— debt investment — REENAFTED
at amortised cost BBIEE

— finance lease receivables

Rental income He WA

Maintenance fee income HEBPA

Management fee income EREE=- TN

IT service income BB BR B A

Write back of long outstanding BERAAREEEN
payables I8

Government grants (note) B BY (H75t)

Sundry income LB ON

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2021, the government

grants related to non-Hong Kong government grants with
immaterial individual balances.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
successfully applied for funding support from the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic
Fund of HK$10,627,000, set by the HKSAR Government.
The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support
to enterprises to retain their employees who would
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the
grant, the Group is required not to make redundancies
during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on
paying wages to the employees. Remaining portion of the
government grants related to non-Hong Kong government
grants with immaterial individual balances.

THEENF B WA

— BREME R WA

o EE E ()
(d) EETEEFWNER

REZEE BERYTREDK
HERERNAEEREARFHEE
FrEE £ B UL %51,361,124,00058
oL (Z&F ZF F:595,458,000
BIL) WEBEME -—XFPR
—E_EFR T —FER
BAEEBWZHI0% °
EPFEMAEBREZNE
B18.0% (ZZE - T £ :

o & |
s

t
11.8% ) °

2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
732 928

43 108

95 453

2,901 3,247
2,242 2,237
3,794 4,856
2,299 698

118 1,861

3,000 12,946
1,900 2,816
17,124 30,150

Wit BE-B-—F+-A=+—AL%

JZ - TR #5 B B2 3F S UAT B B AR R -
BREEMNER

HE-ZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—H8LHF
o ARNEBE KRS B RFRTTREK
FEMHPEREES THEO R
¥ |58 R EE 810,627,000 JC ©
BESHENREBMCERENK
TE BB EINHS IR
Br e @ WEHMES - REBEZ KR
AEBBERABMBIMTIEHRE L5
ERHUEELARINEETS BT
MRS TR HIERBRTHBEE
BAEZER B4 -

B FH BEEE (BB EREBR AR 165
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8.

166

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

Gain on bargain purchase

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Loss on remeasurement of
investment in an associate

Loss on early termination of
lease contracts

Fair value changes of financial
assets at FVTPL

Fair value changes of investment
properties

Net foreign exchange loss

Others

FINANCE COSTS

Interests on

— bank borrowings

— lease liabilities

— borrowings from immediate
holding company

EREREST
EEIIEMTE jfﬁ‘m
LEVE -BEX
B R
EHFTER —HEE
UNEIE& -l ki
RATKRIEHES L
E5 18
BAFHEGABRZ
CREEZ
NEEED
KEMERFEE

SN 85 1% BB
H Al

Tﬂxﬁmﬂﬁi
— IRITER
-~ HEAEFE

- XREERERRARZ

fa 3

HttSmEE
2021 2020
—E_—F —E-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETL
= 752
= 60
(1) (137)
(7,693) =
(123) (346)
5,079 (70)
(49) (297)
(3,769) (19,579)
(88) (115)
(6,644) (19,732)

& B 2

2020
HK$000
FET
225 914
3,799 3,656
147 319
4,171 4,889
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRBHBxX
2021 2020
—E-—F —T_FTF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Current tax : BVHAR 1A
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENED 23,513 8,154
- EIT in the PRC — PRGEMBH 2,876 8,935
— United States Corporate — EBRAFER
Income Tax 6,643 772
— Vietnam Corporate — BERARIMEH
Income Tax 2,747 1,352
- Thailand Corporate — REAFEH
Income Tax 2,518 4,510
— Malaysia Corporate — BRADAA
Income Tax FTisHi 1,078 2,745
— Other jurisdictions — BEfheE#ER 2,352 2,255
41,727 28,723
Under (over) provision BEFEBETIR
in respect of prior years (EBRERE)
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEH (344) 182
— EIT in the PRC — WECEMREHR 480 -
— Other jurisdictions — Hih el AR 54 (334)
190 (152)
Withholding tax on 2R SR TR
dividend received 832 -
42,749 28,571
Deferred taxation (note 37(b)) IREFLTE (H2E37(b)) 2,932 1,650
45,681 30,221
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the BEBNGH IR @M REE NG
estimated assessable profits during both financial years. JERTEFIH16.5%FH & o
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first BENGHMAS cEREEER
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity B28 &8 T N A5 1R8.25% H Hi - 2
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million AEBITUA EEFAIZ16.5%EF -
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not FIEHRMAH T TIEEREBRER Y
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will i i A B AR E — TR 16.5% B o

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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10.

168

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is taxed at 25% for both
financial years.

The corporate income tax in United States is calculated
at 27% of assessable profit for both financial years.

The corporate income tax in Vietnam is calculated at
20% of the estimated assessable profit. Additionally,
being a small and medium enterprise, the Vietnamese
subsidiary is entitled to a 30% reduction in corporate
income tax for both financial years, in accordance with
the Vietnamese laws.

The corporate income tax in Thailand is calculated at
20% of assessable profit for both financial years.

The corporate income tax in Malaysia is calculated
at 24% of the estimated assessable profit for both
financial years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI and
the Cayman Islands.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note
37(b).

10.

FrEHBEX w@m

RAREEZRE B EHMAH
Iy R BERAMBMERTES
AKBR- BTAEFESHEMBEFENG
TR & FIMI16.5%FT & o

RETBEEEMEVE([EEME
BOE]) RERBBORE R &
SEA T BB RPN W EYREE
MIFIR25% K B R AR T o

REEFHRFEEAR  EBRQAMEH
BRRABUEMNM27%:1E

87 2 ) 19 452 1 R 3 4
20%3H 5 - b5 - R IE AR R
BERFEN EATRNEEE M
R B 2 )19 7 T 1830% B 24 7 B
BRI -

RAEMRFEEAN FEQBMEHR
1945 & SR B i M K920 % FH & o

R ESBRFERENRN - FRAD QAP
BHRE ERTE R 24%5H -

RELABEZHS ([RBEZES])
AASEENHRARRG  NEEE
RERUEEMNHAESHEHARME
I FT1EH -

FEEMRDAERE SR IAZ AR A
AEENBRITHEAR-

EREHRIENFHBHNMHE37()
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BHE-_ZE- —F+-_A=+t—HILEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRBHEX @0
Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to F 1A P 15 50 ) 2 B R A A e 1 B9 3 BR
the profit before taxation as follows: ENE

2021 2020
—_E_-—F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET TET

Profit before taxation B 5 A g ) 323,924 286,094

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax £16.5% 8 B EMFH

rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) EEB(ZZ_TF:
16.5% ) 53,447 47,206

Tax effect of expenses not TR 5 2 B

deductible for tax purposes MBee 7,794 12,717
Tax effect of income not taxable BARTBAL

for tax purposes W E (24,452) (34,418)
Tax effect of share of JEAEEZ AR EEDN

results of associates k-4 (6) (14)
Tax effect of share of results of ElIEEE R EEEN

joint ventures WG 171) 209
Effect on tax exemption granted ERBIERENEE (281) (110)
Tax effect of tax losses RIERBIBEERD

not recognised BEeE 1,111 3,089
Utilisation of tax losses previously {8 Fl LATE AR HERR AL

not recognised W% EE (892) (7,047)
Under (over) provision in respect of @A FEBEE TR,

prior years (HBzERAE) 190 (152)
Effect of different tax rates of group R & SN Bl ERER

entities operating in jurisdictions KENEBERME

other than Hong Kong TRMEE 7,130 4,779
Withholding tax on RO IREF T

undistributed earnings 1,384 5,016
Withholding tax on dividend 2R BRI TERE

received 832 —
Others H (405) (636)
Income tax expense for the year FAMBHAX 45,681 30,221

=
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11.

170

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

11. FREF

2021 2020
—E-—F —T_FTF
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Profit for the year has been arrived A& FI 2 Mk~
at after charging (crediting): (FTA) T oI&IE:
Auditors’ remuneration Z B BN & 6,898 6,562
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRERTE
plant and equipment 11,238 10,905
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEETE 38,858 46,938
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 15,632 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets 4 2 & 2 il (B &5 18 464 —
Amortisation of intangible assets ML EE#E
(included in administrative (st ATTER )
expenses) 4,443 4,164
Allowance for expected credit losses © HERE 5 & H b & Uk
on trade and other receivables RIEMTESEER
recognised B 18 B 1 6,993 9,390
Less: Reversal of allowance B 5 R HE MK
for expected credit losses REMTEHEE
on trade and other receivables EiE R D (7,042) (617)
Net impairment loss (reversed)/ BHEEEERELT
recognised under expected (Bm),HERH
credit loss model VRN SRi= bk (49) 8,773
Staff costs 8 I
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) BEEWe (Hit12) 12,658 28,751
Other staff costs H b8 T A
Staff costs excluding retirement B IE IR R AE B 3R
benefit contributions BB TR A 279,004 286,371
Retirement benefit contributions RIRER R 23,319 19,986
Equity-settled share-based payment JARK#E 45 & 2 LARR (D
RERBNR 1,881 8,275
Total staff costs BTIXAER 316,862 343,383
Gain on bargain purchase EERBENS - (752)
Gross rental income from HEYEHSWABEE
investment properties 354 286
Less: outgoings incurred which B EEHESWMAR
generated rental income BEAETY (77) (51)
277 235
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. % THABLEEMS
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERITHATZH S
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section BIEEBRAIEHIE383(1) ER AT
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and (BEEEFMNEZER) RO E2BHE
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information WESEMS0T:
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z--—-F+t-A=+—-HLEE
Basic Performance  Equity-settled Retirement
salaries and bonus share-based benefit
Directors’ fees allowances (note ) payment  contributions Total
NRELEE
EXEER 5 NRHHEBRN
Name of director EEpE Ezned 28 ik BHRERHH @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
FE7 FE7 FEx FE7

Executive directors HiTEZ

Mr. Huang Yifeng BRELE

("Mr. Huang”) ([&5%4]) - 1,400 1,000 1,876 18 4,294
Mr. Sun Jian (note i) BRREE (Hi) - 862 1,100 